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MANN+HUMMEL AT A GLANCE

We want to secure and further  
develop our position as the global 
market leader in filtration. We  
will continue to pursue this great 
objective in the years to come 
through high-quality products, first-
rate service and innovative tech-
nologies. How we interact with our 
customers, our employees and 
our social environment is determined 
by our values. One of these values 
is focus. For us, this means that we 
focus on results and on getting the 
right things right. We are straight-
forward and fast-moving. We  
discuss, decide and deliver.



2014 2013 2012

Sales 2,795 mill. EUR 2,675 mill. EUR 2,616 mill. EUR

EBITDA 241 mill. EUR 246 mill. EUR 232 mill. EUR

As % of sales 8.6 % 9.2 % 8.9 %

Earnings before financial result and taxes 140 mill. EUR 151 mill. EUR 146 mill. EUR

As % of sales 5.0 % 5.6 % 5.6 %

Result from ordinary activities 103 mill. EUR 122 mill. EUR 127 mill. EUR

As % of sales 3.7 % 4.5 % 4.9 %

Annual net income 74 mill. EUR 102 mill. EUR 96 mill. EUR

As % of sales 2.6 % 3.8 % 3.7 %

Gross cash flow 240 mill. EUR 276 mill. EUR 244 mill. EUR

As % of sales 8.6 % 10.3 % 9.3 %

Total assets 2,234 mill. EUR 1,852 mill. EUR 1,666 mill. EUR

Shareholders’ equity 812 mill. EUR 708 mill. EUR 636 mill. EUR

As % of total assets 36.3 % 38.3 % 38.2 %

Depreciation of tangible assets 81 mill. EUR 75 mill. EUR 66 mill. EUR

Investments in tangible assets 141 mill. EUR 126 mill. EUR 124 mill. EUR

Value added per employee 76 kEUR 77 kEUR 76 kEUR

Number of employees at end of year 16,000 15,231 14,575

Concentration on customer proximity, with over  
60 locations in 28 countries around the world.

Key figures

Locations



Four business units. One goal: satisfied customers

500,000 load alternations

1,200 l/h

Over 98% 

1,920 m2

AUTOMOTIVE ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT: PARTNER  
FOR INNOVATIVE COMPLETE SYSTEMS

INDUSTRIAL FILTRATION: SOLUTIONS FOR MANY 
INDUSTRIES

AUTOMOTIVE AFTERMARKET: THE ORIGINAL IS  
THE BEST SPARE

WATER FILTRATION: WATER IS LIFE

Oil filter modules

Fuel filters

Cabin filters

Membrane bioreactors

is the score our oil f ilters have to achieve during dynamic 
high-temperature pulsation on the test bench, along with 
numerous other tests, to prove their tightness and long-
term durability throughout their lifetime.

The new PreLine 1201 fuel prefilter permits a flow rate of up 
to 1,200 l/h and separates water as well as coarse partic-
les. The filter meets all safety requirements for use in ships 
and boats.

The new MANN-FILTER FreciousPlus biofunctional cabin 
filter binds allergens almost completely and reduces 
bacteria and mould growth by more than 98%.

is the membrane area of the new BIO-CEL® XL. Until its 
market introduction, our largest module had a membrane 
area of only 400 m2. The new model opens up an entirely 
new position in the market.

Product Highlights 2014
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Q1

MANN+HUMMEL acquires VOKES AIR

In February, MANN+HUMMEL welcomed air filtration specialist 

VOKES AIR into the (corporate) family. This extends our range of 

industrial filtration into the fields of HVAC (Heating, Ventilation and Air 

Conditioning) filtration and gas turbine filters. The acquisition supports 

our strategy of greater than proportional growth in the non-automo-

tive sector.

Two awards

In March, General Motors recognised MANN+HUMMEL as 2013 

Supplier of the Year for outstanding performance as a system supplier 

in the area of air intake systems. GM also awarded us, as one of only 

four suppliers out of over 18,300, the “Overdrive Award” in recognition 

of excellent results.

Among the top 50 patent registrants

For the third time in a row, MANN+HUMMEL is in the top 50 patent 

applicants in Germany. That’s a success that speaks for the out-

standing innovative capacity of MANN+HUMMEL.

Q2

More engagement in the water filtration market

In May, MANN+HUMMEL acquired 50 per cent of the shares in 

MICRODYN-NADIR, a water filtration specialist located in Germany. 

This internationally active company based in Wiesbaden is a leading 

supplier of membranes and modules for microfiltration, ultrafiltration 

and nanofiltration, and has a strong market position in the industrial 

and municipal water and waste water treatment sectors.

A “Great Place to Work®”

For the second time since 2011, in April 2014 MANN+HUMMEL 

worked with Great Place to Work® to conduct a global employee 

survey, and received an enthusiastic response from 13,500 employ-

ees. The responses to the survey resulted in over 650 measures 

being taken – another sign of the focus MANN+HUMMEL places on 

its employees.

Modern development centre in China

In China, MANN+HUMMEL has comprehensively modernised its 

research and development centre. This step started with expansion 

of test equipment, which now covers all important product lines. It 

also included building relationships with some of China’s leading  

universities.

Highlights 2014
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Q3

FreciousPlus cabin filter presented

In September, MANN+HUMMEL presented its new filter, FreciousPlus, 

at the Automechanika in Frankfurt-am-Main. The special new feature 

from MANN-FILTER: the cabin filters are equipped with an additional 

biofunctional layer. This special coating absorbs allergens and prevents 

bacteria and mould fungi from entering the passenger compartment.

Volvo Purchasing Supplier Award 

Volvo recognised MANN+HUMMEL for outstanding work in 

purchasing. At the IAA Commercial Vehicles in Hanover, the Swedish 

automotive manufacturer presented the Volvo Purchasing Supplier 

Award in the area of Aftermarket Excellence.

New cyclone cells increase  
air filter performance

At InnoTrans in Berlin in September, MANN+HUMMEL presented its 

new cyclone cells for air filtration in rail vehicles. These achieve prese-

paration efficiency of up to 94 per cent with simultaneously lower 

pressure loss, making them significantly better performing than con-

ventional cells.

Q4

South Campus opens

MANN+HUMMEL opened its South Campus in Portage, Michigan 

(USA) in the presence of Michigan Governor, Rick Snyder. This 20,500 

square-metre building makes MANN+HUMMEL more than ready, not 

only for its current tasks, but also for future demands.    

16 locations accident-free for a year

A total of 16 locations were accident-free for an entire year in October. 

One location has managed to stay accident-free for a million working 

hours. 

MANN+HUMMEL wins  
HR Excellence Award

For its YOLO@MANN+HUMMEL initiative, MANN+HUMMEL in  

Berlin was presented with the 2014 HR Excellence Award by maga-

zine Human Resources Manager in the category of operational health 

management. This program for apprentices sensitises young employ-

ees to topics in health and health management right from the start.

Highlights 2014  03



Dear business partners,

Dear employees and friends of MANN+HUMMEL,

The global automotive market saw largely positive trends in 2014. Thanks to the commitment of all of our 16,000 employees, 

MANN+HUMMEL was able to continue to grow. Unfortunately, the markets in South America experienced negative 

trends. In addition to the collapse of the market in Brazil, the good results in our core business were also influenced by 

successful company acquisitions and the associated one-off and integration costs. 

Anyone familiar with MANN+HUMMEL knows that we place great importance on our corporate values. Within the 

framework of our values, the concept of “focus” describes the fact that we always attempt to concentrate on what is most 

important and express this through fast and clear decisions. We have therefore devoted this year’s Annual Report  

to our idea of this concept. While reading, you will surely notice that we have not just applied this concept internally. 

Rather, we have tried to find people and histories who represent this value outside of MANN+HUMMEL as well. 

The acquisitions we made in 2014 also show a facet of the focus philosophy. Namely, our objective to concentrate on 

all promising areas of the filtration business and consistently follow our goal of “Leadership in Filtration”. For example,  

at the start of 2014 we decided to acquire VOKES AIR, a Swedish specialist in the area of cabin air purification. A short 

time later, we purchased a shareholding in MICRODYN-NADIR, an expert in water filtration. Its complete acquisition  

followed at the start of 2015. 

Foreword

Alfred Weber  
President & CEO
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However, we were also able to expand our existing portfolio during the past year. One example is the new FreciousPlus 

cabin filter, which was presented for the first time in Europe in autumn 2014 under the MANN-FILTER brand. FreciousPlus 

binds allergens, moulds and particulate matter almost completely. With this product, we can offer vehicle occupants 

perfect cabin air quality. At the same time, we help automotive manufacturers to give their vehicles added value in terms 

of health and well-being.

The fact that we are on the right track with our strategy has also been confirmed by the independent American market 

research institute Freedonia: the institute once again confirmed our global market leadership in the global filtration sector 

for 2014. Once again, we have our employees to thank for this repeated success.

We know that we need to be ready to react quickly and efficiently to the events and developments happening around us. 

We have absolutely no doubt that our employees will succeed in this. That is why we are entering the new financial year 

with enthusiasm and motivation, and in full confidence that we will be able to report positive results next year as well.

Alfred Weber

President & CEO

Frank B. Jehle

Deputy CEO & CFO

Manfred Wolf

President & General Manager  

Automotive + Industrial Business

Frank B. Jehle  
Deputy CEO & CFO

Manfred Wolf  
President & General Manager Automotive + Industrial Business

05Foreword  



Report by the  
Supervisory Board

Dear Sir or Madam,

The Supervisory Board of MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GmbH held three meetings during the year under review. Our 

meetings focussed on current business development as well as on discussion of the possible effects of global  

economic trends on the company. The Supervisory Board was also intensively involved in the investment and human 

resources policy in the group as well as in questions of quality assurance. The Board of Management also regularly 

informed the Supervisory Board of current trends both orally and in writing outside the meetings.

Another central topic in the past financial year was our “Strategy 2022”, which was discussed intensively amongst the 

Supervisory Board, the extended Board of Management and groups of experts convened specifically for this purpose. The 

Supervisory Board supports this strategy process, whose objective is to position the company sustainably in the  

global market. “Leadership in Filtration” is the name of the vision, which can be translated into quantitative and qualitative 

goals. From a quantitative standpoint, MANN+HUMMEL specialises in the different fields of the filtration market. The 

acquisitions made in 2014 also attest to this fact, as they extended our portfolio with new product segments. 

Our qualitative objective is to continue to build the MANN+HUMMEL brand, thus differentiating ourselves from the 

global competition. Customers and other interested groups already associate us with concepts like quality, trust and  

values-oriented business. These are attributes to which our employees and management have always been true over 

the past nearly 75 years. Even though we want to sharpen the profile of our group brand, nothing will change in this 

respect. We will remain a market leader in filtration while staying true to our Swabian roots.

The success of the past financial year shows that MANN+HUMMEL has been moving in the right direction with our strategic 

decisions to date. The financial statements of MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GmbH were audited by PKF Wulf & Partner, 

Auditors & Tax Consultants, Löffelstrasse 44, 70597 Stuttgart, Germany. The consolidated financial statements and 

consolidated status report of the MANN+HUMMEL group were audited by Ernst & Young GmbH, Auditors, Titotstrasse 8, 

74072 Heilbronn, Germany. All documents were issued with an unqualified opinion. We have examined these  

documents in detail and received extensive reports from the auditors on the results of their audit work. The Supervisory 

Board approves the results of this audit.

MANN+HUMMEL ANNUAL REPORT 2014   06 Report by the Supervisory Board  



Thomas Fischer

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

We also have one change in our ranks to report for the past financial year. After the 2014 spring meeting, Karl-Heinz Streibich 

stepped down as shareholders’ representatives in the Supervisory Board. Walter Gehl was appointed as his replacement. 

The Supervisory Board thanked Mr Streibich for his work and constructive efforts to the good of the company and his 

employees.

The Supervisory Board formed a Mediation Committee in accordance with Article  27 (3) of the German Co-determination 

Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz) and a Personnel Committee.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the employees of the MANN+HUMMEL group, the Board of Management 

and the employee representatives for their successful efforts in the past financial year.

Ludwigsburg, March 2015

Thomas Fischer Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Keeping sight of  
the big picture

focused on future challenges: Alfred Weber, President & CEO, Frank B. Jehle, Deputy CEO & CFO,  
and Manfred Wolf, President & General Manager Automotive + Industrial Business (left to right)
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The past year concluded with great success and the forecasts 

for 2015 are optimistic. In the long term, MANN+HUMMEL  

is oriented towards growth and innovation. But what exactly 

does that mean? What are our future  challenges and how 

should the Group address them? In our interview, Alfred Weber, 

Frank B. Jehle and Manfred Wolf talk about acquisitions,  

long-term strategies and the overall objective: building on the 

company’s position as market leader.

M+H Magazine: Mr Weber, Mr Jehle,  
Mr Wolf: When you think back on the financial 
year 2014, what stands out for you?

manfred wolf: When I think back on 2014 in a few 

years’ time, I know I’ll first think about the fact that Ger-

many won the World Cup. From the point of view of 

MANN+HUMMEL – and as a Ludwigsburg resident, which 

is particularly important to me – I’ll remember the ground- 

breaking ceremony for the new technology centre.

frank b. jehle: What stands out in my mind, is the fact 

that we were in a management conference and missed the 

first half of the fantastic World Cup match between Ger-

many and Brazil (laughs). But seriously, what I’ll remember 

best is the beginning of the year. Our negotiations with 

VOKES AIR took place over Christmas and New Year, 

coming to a successful close at the beginning of 2014. A 

tense phase, but one with a happy ending.

alfred weber: The first thing that comes to mind is the 

second global employee survey, which once again saw a 

good response from our employees. This result shows me 

their commitment and interest in the company. Although 

the second survey typically gets a somewhat poorer 

response, we saw as good a response or even better on 

average in many departments. 

I’ll also remember one other thing: never before have 

discussions of our business development involved quite 

so much in terms of political changes, crises and natural 

catastrophes than in 2014.

Which crises are you thinking of, in particular? 

weber: Russia and Ukraine, the Middle East, as well 

as the political situation after the elections in India and 

Brazil. Additionally there is the fight against corruption in 

China and the ongoing discussions in the Eurozone to 

resolve the national debt crisis. 

In a press release on the half-year results, 
you mentioned that the figures were showing 
a rather good trend, but that expectations  
for the whole year were somewhat conserva-
tive. From today’s standpoint, did this turn  
out as expected – especially in the context of 
the crises you’ve mentioned?

jehle: Our forecasts were in fact confirmed and are 

consistent with the macroeconomic developments. Even 

though the growth forecast for 2015 has worsened over 

the past six months, our outlook for 2015 is better than for 

the previous year. 

11Round table interview  



What effects will this development have  
on 2015?

jehle: Volatility has increased. This is due partly to the 

political crisis, but it’s also economic in nature. The finan-

cial markets have calmed down again, but no sustainable 

reorganisation has taken place. So we have to be prepared 

for the possibility that large market fluctuations could 

occur, which would without a doubt represent a great 

challenge.

How are you addressing this challenge?

wolf: We’re prepared for it and we can cushion the 

economic effects. We also have the benefit of our experi-

ence from 2009, when we weathered a severe economic 

crisis. However, we don’t expect 2015 to be a déjà vu situ-

ation. Instead, we are anticipating slow growth in the differ-

ent segments. In automotive original equipment, produc-

tion will probably increase slightly and we also expect 

growth in the automotive aftermarket. In the non-automo-

tive area, we are placing great hopes on VOKES AIR, 

which we acquired in 2014. We hope to profit worldwide 

from the resultant expansions to our product portfolio.

weber: For us, our standard practice is to plan for dif-

ferent scenarios. That means that we do not immediately 

lose our nerve when things turn out a little differently from 

how we imagined the ideal case to be. Rather, our aim is to 

achieve sustainable, continuous development. To achieve 

this, we primarily invest in two areas for the long term: our 

employees and our products. Take a look at our training 

catalogue for ongoing training and education, or our 

actions in expanding management competence. In the 

product area, we rely primarily on innovation and technol-

ogy. These investments don’t just bring us forward this 

year, but do so sustainably for the long term.

What are you particularly looking forward to  
in 2015? 

jehle: I am especially looking forward to the positive 

development of the acquisitions we’ve made over the past 

few years. 

“ We do not immedi-
ately lose our nerve 
when things turn out 
a little differently from 
how we imagined  
the ideal case to be.” 
alfred weber
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wolf: That’s right, because when it comes to acquisi-

tions, we’ve done a lot in the past 15 years. Companies 

from Bosnia, Korea, the UK, Germany, China and North 

America have all joined the MANN+HUMMEL Group. That 

has brought us new products as well as a large number of 

highly qualified employees. Thanks to these successes, 

we will continue to be an active player in the acquisition 

market. I hope that 2015 will also bring us another promis-

ing new acquisition. 

weber: I’d like to take this opportunity to emphasise 

that it’s also our shareholders that make it possible to take 

appropriate action. They leave the money in the company. 

That’s an important prerequisite that means we are able to 

react quickly and with enough financial strength when 

suitable acquisition targets arise.

Why have the corporate acquisitions of  
the past few years been so strategically 
important?

wolf: About a third of our growth comes from acqui-

sitions. Our latest acquisitions have focussed on filtration. 

We hoped to strengthen our position with regard to partic-

ular products or markets. BENGBU HAOYE, a Chinese 

 filter manufacturer in the automotive sector, for example, 

permitted us to open up new market and price segments. 

The acquisition of Purolator in North America gave us a 

strong international brand that made us one of the market 

leaders in the NAFTA region.

Let’s move on to the long-term plan: Strategy 
2022. Core points are continued focus on  
filtration and innovation. What does this mean 
specifically?

wolf: With our focus on filtration, we are breaking into 

a market that, according to external estimates, is currently 

worth about EUR 45 to 50 billion. With our sales of 

EUR 2.8 billion, we are one of the market leaders in filtra-

tion, according to the independent US market research 

institute Freedonia. This means that it is a relatively frag-

mented market. Within this market, we intend to grow in 

different areas and break through into fields of business 

that we are currently not supporting. There are two good 

examples of this effort from the recent past: the field of 

“ We are focusing on  
a market that is cur-
rently worth about 45 
to 50 billion euros.” 
manfred wolf
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water filtration, where we made three smaller acquisitions 

and the segments served by VOKES AIR, i.e. air condition-

ing systems and indoor air filtration. We see growth poten-

tial here. 

But there are also regional movements within the 

market shares. Here, Asia and America are becoming 

more important, while Europe’s share will continue to fall. 

You mentioned Asia and America as important 
markets. Are our global positioning and  
the focus on other markets leading to nervous-
ness among the work force in Germany? 
How do you counter this kind of fear?

jehle: Our regional structure is a great advantage. If 

we have a weak economic phase in one region, as is cur-

rently the case in South America with Brazil, that doesn’t 

hit us quite as hard if we’re well represented in other 

regions of the world. 

If we take a closer look – and a great number of our 

employees do exactly that – regional differentiation is 

nothing to be afraid of. On the contrary, it’s comforting to 

know that weakness in one region can be compensated 

by strength in another.

wolf: Of course, this relies on appropriate communi-

cation between management and employees. Incidentally: 

there’s currently a huge hole just a few metres from our 

headquarters in Ludwigsburg. We’re building our modern 

technology centre there – that’s a clear indication of the 

importance of our locations in Germany. With VOKES AIR 

and MICRODYN-NADIR we’ve also gained additional 

locations in Germany.

weber: We communicate openly and actively about 

our orientation. Global market developments also play an 

important role. Until a few years ago, German automotive 

manufacturers produced almost six million vehicles a year 

in Germany. But they only produced four million abroad. 

Next year, there will again be almost six million vehicles 

made in Germany – but ten million overseas! We can’t 

ignore this trend. We have to adapt to it and provide service 

to our customers on location.

The type of communication is surely also a 
question of corporate structure. How can  
you maintain that in a company that is seeing 
such explosive growth?

weber: We’re still a family company. And a family cares 

for one another, maintains clear values and acts on them. 

No matter the location. Our values of Focus, Integrity, 

Leadership, Teamwork, Excellence and Respect, along 

with our MANN+HUMMEL Code of Conduct, constitute 

our guiding principles. We communicate that to our 

employees and live out those values through a variety of 

activities at locations around the world. For example, you 

won’t find us sponsoring large football teams. But we will 

sponsor the local football team at our location in the Czech 

Republic, the local basketball team in Spain, a children’s 

clinic in Ludwigsburg or an Indian orphanage.

Is that also something you consider part of 
leadership – supporting and helping?

wolf: Leadership in the sense of “taking responsibil-

ity” – yes, absolutely. Consider the catastrophic flooding in 

Bosnia in early 2014. Our employees collected donations 

and the company matched the entire amount collected by 

the employees. Employees at our German locations also 

collected donated goods and organised their transport to 

the flood areas.

“ Our outlook for 2015 
is better than for  
the previous year.” 
frank b. jehle
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What does leadership mean for you in a 
 corporate sense? 

wolf: Independent market researchers see us as 

having leading market shares. But we have to act to ensure 

that this remains the case. That starts in the growing  

Chinese aftermarket, where we are working towards a  

20 per cent market share, and extends to Africa, where we 

want to gain a foothold with new products or in new fields. 

Here, leadership has a quantitative aspect. But we want to 

remain leaders in innovation. For me, leadership also 

means that MANN+HUMMEL is a company that employ-

ees and managers want to join.

jehle: 20 years ago, you heard a lot about “leaders”, 

meaning the person or manager themselves. Today, we 

tend to think that its a question of creating an environment 

and background conditions where different personalities 

from different hierarchical levels can also develop. This is 

essential to bring the entire company into a position where 

it can achieve the objective of long-term leadership in the 

filtration sector.

weber: To that extent, one of our top goals is to estab-

lish certain basic behavioural models for leadership in the 

company. For example, we consistently use our annual 

meeting of the top 100 managers to carry central mes-

sages to the team using training and education.

Always focusing on the right thing, on what’s 
necessary – why is that so difficult?

weber: As the leadership team, our task is to do the 

right thing for the company. Of course, that is not always 

apparent to all the employees and can sometimes lead to 

conflict. So we try to keep sight of the big picture at all 

times, without forgetting the interests of individual people.

That means we make our objectives and decisions 

transparent, that we show our employees that they aren’t 

affected by corporate developments but rather participate 

in them.

Of course, this is not always easy – but it is worth-

while.  

focussing on what is right for the company: Manfred Wolf, Frank B. Jehle and Alfred Weber (left to right) 
know that correct decisions aren’t always easy to understand.
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Breathing easy 
in Heathrow
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Heathrow Airport 

Located about 15 miles west of London, the 

grounds of Heathrow Airport cover 3,155 acres. 

Over 72 million passengers stream through its  

five terminals each year. That makes Heathrow not 

only the largest airport in Europe, but – after 

Atlanta, Beijing and Dubai – the fourth largest in the 

world. The airport employs about 76,000 people.



London Heathrow is  
the largest airport in Europe. 
More than 72 million pas-
sengers use its five terminals 
every year and they all  
need fresh air. Air filters from 
MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR 
play a decisive role in this 
area. We looked at the work 
of two service technicians 
during a filter replacement.

19 



changing filters at heathrow can be hard work. Tom Bromley (above) hauls a carton of new filters to their assigned location, where his colleague 
Wayne Young (right) prepares them for installation. The two are a practised team, in which every manual action is just right.
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Revo II filters installed by  
MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR 
reduced CO2 emissions by 
6,000 tonnes.
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The technicians from  
MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR 
are responsible  
for a total of 8,641 filters.
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during a filter change: Before they’re put into production, the filters look clean and white as they hang from their frames (above).  
With a total of 8,641 filters that need replacing each and every year, there isn’t much time for breaks, like the one Tom Bromley  
is enjoying here (left). 
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 ondon Heathrow, Terminal 5: Steel, glass and 

concrete characterise the modern, highly functional build-

ing. When it was opened in 2008, T5 was considered a 

wonder of architecture as the largest free-standing building 

in the United Kingdom. Supported by twenty steel beams, 

the metal and glass roof floats 40 metres above the five 

storeys of the terminal. 

The babble of travellers’ voices mixes with the noises 

of tapping heels and rolling suitcases. Each day, more than 

80,000 passengers go through T5 alone. Heathrow as a 

whole sees more than twice that number. It’s a massive 

challenge for human resources, logistics and systems. 

And not least because all these people, out to the farthest 

corner of the five terminals, have to be supplied with clean 

breathing air.

Impressive facts

We talked to Tom Bromley and Wayne Young. They are 

service technicians at MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR, and 

were willing to take us along into the inner workings of the 

airport. Down where no passengers are allowed to go – 

where they work to ensure that the building is supplied 

with filtered air around the clock. Before we started our 

look behind the scenes, the technicians impressed us with 

a few facts. They maintain 916 air conditioners in four of 

the five terminals of the airport and the other buildings on 

the grounds. That includes three air intake systems in T5. 

In total, they’re responsible for 8,641 filters. 

“Our task is to remove all the contaminated filters 

after a year, install new ones in their place and ensure that 

the filter system is always handed over to the customer in 

perfect condition,” explains Tom Bromley. For this purpose, 

they have to visit Heathrow several times a month, some-

times for two weeks at a time. The pair have worked 

together at the airport for ten years, about five of these for 

VOKES AIR. Their area of responsibility also includes some 

leading universities as well as some hospitals in the Greater 

London area. 

The crown jewel 

Terminal 5 is the crown jewel of Heathrow Airport. 

More than 80,000 passengers go through  

this architectural wonder each day. Here, in 2014, 

MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR carried out what 

was probably the most extensive filter replacement 

for air intake filter systems in the United Kingdom.
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In a different world

One guard and two security doors later, and we are in a 

different world. The glittering polish of the arrivals hall is far 

behind us. Instead, we’re winding our way through narrow 

corridors to reach a small elevator that we use to go down 

another two floors. There’s no map that shows these 

rooms. “This is worth seeing,” says Bromley with a laugh. 

They know exactly when they have to replace each filter 

and where it is. Passing cabinets full of electronics and 

technology, we follow the two men along the neon tubes, 

finally reaching what looks like a huge boiler room with an 

atmosphere dominated entirely by the noise of ventilation 

systems. 

Then Young opens one of the many cabinet doors – 

and there they are: the filters. Coated with a greyish layer of 

dust and dirt, they resemble nothing more than a massive 

vacuum cleaner filter that hasn’t been changed for quite 

some time. The filters have prevented all that dirt from 

getting into the interior of the terminal and ending up in the 

air that the passengers breathe. At Heathrow, aircraft take 

off and land every second, burdening the air around them 

with all kinds of hazardous materials. That just makes it 

even more essential to filter out those materials before they 

reach the interior of the terminal. Large pipes draw in fresh 

air from outdoors and direct it through the filter cabinets 

before it reaches the passenger zones. 

Working through the night

To replace the filters, Bromley and Young, each equipped 

with eight filter pockets, take frames off their guide rails 

and replace them with frames containing new filters. It’s 

strenuous work, that requires a lot of concentration and 

focus. In spring, they had just five nights to replace all 726 

filters in the terminal’s three large air chambers. Because 

operation of the systems shouldn’t be affected or inter-

rupted for as short a time as possible, they had to work at 

night. Changes in the smaller air conditioners can fortu-

nately be done with the systems still in operation, so the 

two only need to worry about working nights for one week 

a year. 

Of course, they sometimes argue during such stressful 

situations, they report. But they still have plenty of fun at 

work. They are a practised team, with every movement, 

every manual action instinctively correct.

Costly inspections

Now we go to Terminal 1, the oldest terminal in the airport. 

Here, everything is a little less glamorous, but the differ-

ence between the passenger zone and “backstage” is just 

as extreme. To get there, we have to go through one of the 

usual personal inspections. Just like any airport employees 

who work in secure areas. 

“The security inspections are absolutely essential. 

After all, they serve the safety of both passengers and 

employees. However, they still cost us a lot of time in our 

daily work,” says Young. Almost as much as the inspection 

of the roller cart they use to bring filters into the airport and 

to the individual air conditioning systems. “When we bring 

in new filters from outside the airport, the security checks 

can take up to a day,” says Bromley. That’s valuable time 

that they have to make up elsewhere. So both try to work 

even faster and more conscientiously when replacing filters. 

“At the end of the day, it makes us proud to have fulfilled 

our quota.” 

Even though they do their work far from the gleaming 

steel and glass, and most travellers are barely aware of the 

service they provide, Young and Bromley know that they 

make a significant contribution to the working of the airport.  

“ We make a signifi-
cant contribution  
to the working of the 
airport.” 
tom bromley
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“Innovation” is one of the key words of our times.  

Innovation consultant Ingmar Baus tells us why a little chaos  

is needed, even in well-structured, focused companies.

Turning “impossible”  
into “innovative”

I
 

 

 

 like the feeling of having surprised someone with an 

idea. For example, when I suggest an idea that makes the 

person I’m talking to stop and think. Because it’s plausible 

although it might seem crazy at first," says Ingmar Baus. 

The 36 year-old looks more like the spirited boss of an 

advertising agency than a consultant in innovation projects 

at the world’s largest chemical company, BASF SE. But 

one thing is quickly clear: he doesn’t fit into predefined 

categories and he doesn’t think inside the box. Rather, he 

is someone who wants to convince anyone who says 

“That won’t work” of exactly the opposite. 

He’s been with the international chemical giant for 

twelve years. After an internal corporate education in busi-

ness IT, he worked in Brazil and Argentina, where he com-

pleted his Master’s degree in strategic marketing. Six years 

later he came back to Germany, where he lives with his 

Brazilian wife and dog, and into a career in innovation 

management. Not a straight-forward career, but one that 

has shaped him. “Taking a wide variety of components and 

experience and making something new, that has always 

fascinated me. Of course, that has not only influenced my 

career, but also my personal definition of innovation.” 

Innovation = knowledge + networking

When Baus says something funny, a slight Rhineland dia-

lect can be heard. But when he emphasises that the term 

“innovation management” does not really match the pic-

ture he has of his job, the laughter lines are replaced by a 

deep furrow between his eyebrows. He thinks for a while 

about how he can describe the concept accurately. As 

though he finds it too important a subject to get wrong. 

“Typical innovation management is based on systematic 

planning and control of innovation, in order to take an idea 

and make it a market success.” 
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However, his work actually begins much earlier, in the 

bringing together of various knowledge owners. “I’m  

convinced that the path to new solution concepts runs 

through people and the networking of their knowledge. 

Ideas that come from nothing simply don’t exist. Instead, 

people are always combining their existing knowledge in 

new ways,” he says decisively. 

Together with a network of experts, this has allowed 

Baus to reduce the energy consumption of the drink vend-

ing machines of a large food and beverage manufacturer. 

The model for that solution came from certain pigments 

that reflect infrared radiation. These are normally used in 

electric vehicles to reflect solar radiation from the vehicle 

so that it heats up less and requires less energy for the air 

conditioning system. Precisely this arrangement was per-

fect for drink vending machines, which often stand in the 

sunlight. “The solution for a problem is most likely some-

where in someone else’s knowledge,” says Baus.

Innovations are not linear

“The path from idea to innovation rarely follows straight 

lines,” says Ingmar Baus, summing up his experience to 

date. That path can’t really be planned and requires great 

flexibility from decision makers. “For me, though, that’s 

exactly what makes the process so exciting. Not knowing 

what will happen, and the joy when we succeed in imple-

menting an idea. Or the ambition, when faced with a set-

back, to re-group and try again.”  

Because it’s not the setbacks that he fears, but rather 

one-sidedness and routine. “I thrive on difficulty. Chal-

lenges excite me. What I worry about is one-sidedness, or 

endless routine work that has to be done time and again.” 

But Baus says he still encounters difficulties he wouldn’t 

mind going without. Difficult organisational structures, for 

example, that complicate the decision process. “Ideas that 

are under development don’t fit into rigid organisational 

“that won’t work” is not part of Ingmar Baus’s vocabulary. The innovation consultant at chemical company BASF SE doesn’t think  
in strict categories.
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In 2014, MANN+HUMMEL was once again one of the 50 top patent applicants 

in Germany. In this interview, Charles Vaillant, Vice President Innovation and 

 Corporate Strategy, explains why this is not only due to good ideas, but also to 

strategic planning.

From customer needs to 
new products – Innovation@
MANN+HUMMEL

When we consider the subject of innovation 
management, we unavoidably encounter 
terms like product or corporate strategy. 
What connection do you see between these 
concepts? 
Innovations are a significant component of the  

MANN+HUMMEL strategy, and we are proud of the global 

recognition this characteristic feature is receiving. Part of 

this corporate strategy is the so-called “product strategy 

process”, which was introduced in 2010 and includes clear 

innovation plans. The department for corporate strategy is 

therefore also responsible for the innovation process and 

management of the innovation pipeline. Project plans and 

their careful monitoring and execution is how we turn good 

product and process ideas into the innovations them-

selves. This means we can offer our customers a steady 

stream of new filtration solutions, achieving our long-term 

strategic objectives. It is therefore clear that our commit-

ment to continuous innovation and change is one of our 

primary characteristics.

Innovation pipeline, product plans, corporate 
strategy – complex concepts. How would you 
describe your work specifically?
The department is responsible for the entire corporate 

strategy process – in other words, from discovering 

requirements at the highest levels to the needs of individual 

regions, sectors and even regional market segments. We 

don’t just focus on ideas that come from the company 

itself, but also on customer needs, market trends, new 

technologies and potential fields of business. We have 

developed a comprehensive methodology for implement-

ing our objectives systematically and efficiently in concrete, 

clear measures and results.

And if we want a little more detail...
... then several questions arise. What global trends are 

there in our industry and what technical solutions will we 

have to develop to address those trends? Those are the 

challenges that our colleagues in the R&D departments will 

need to overcome to recognise new technological trends. 

The managers in the corporate strategy department, how-

ever, are specifically looking for new opportunities to 

expand the business in sectors and markets that fit our 

corporate strategy. Furthermore, we view the topic of inno-

vation from different perspectives, in order to correctly 

position our technology and remain competitive. One of our 

colleagues is specifically responsible for innovation  
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structures as easily as fixed objectives and linear pro-

cess models. And ideas always have to develop and 

change,” he emphasises.

Of course, he also knows that companies don’t 

always have an easy time of it with innovators. He also 

admits that he isn’t always the easiest of employees – 

because he always questions the illogical and because 

he also considers absolute freedom and autonomy at 

work to be the basis for creative ideas. But it’s exactly 

those characteristics that are an important factor for 

the success of his projects.

Focusing on differentiation

“For me, the most important resources at the start of 

an idea are my own time and access to experts. I read 

and inform myself in all directions and talk to knowl-

edge owners from a wide variety of areas.” What drives 

him are his curiosity and “a tireless drive to play”. Other 

important factors are stamina and the conviction that 

ideas that seem impossible right now are often the 

ones that provide the greatest value.

And he’s not alone. Numerous companies have 

now realised that, only through innovation, can they 

differentiate themselves from the competition. Whether 

it’s a more cost-effective production method that 

makes it possible to offer products at a better price, or 

a focus on a new business model or new products that 

revolutionise the market. “Of course, that suits me 

perfectly. Because it means that even in the future, I’ll 

still have plenty of opportunities to create positive 

chaos.”  

management. She ensures that the entire process runs 

smoothly – from the first input of the idea into our knowl-

edge database, to its evaluation, until its implementation 

and even beyond. This helps us to always know the status 

of the different projects, their expected values and monitor 

their progress systematically thus ensuring a solid innova-

tion performance.

What you are describing sounds like a lot of 
teamwork. How can you maintain that kind  
of close cooperation in a company with over 
15,000 employees, many of whom even 
work on different continents?
To develop the best possible solutions for our customers, 

we focus on global knowledge management. As part of 

our learning organisation, every location should benefit 

from the knowledge of our brightest minds and our best 

teams, no matter where they are located. For this reason, 

we rely on continuous exchange between departments 

and colleagues. Different time zones and spatial distances 

can naturally still be a problem. However, to stay close to 

the market, suppliers, customers and research centres, 

our colleagues have to be distributed at different locations 

around the world. And cooperation beyond the boundaries 

of the company also ensures new stimulus when picking 

up ideas and trends. But above all it makes us faster!  

“ Continuous 
innovation and 
change are 
among our 
primary char-
acteristics.” 
charles vaillant
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Going organic 
against pollen & co.
In an ever-increasing number of areas, people are trying to revert  

to using natural products and methods. This is a trend that is also 

affecting the automotive industry.
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focussing on performance: The FreciousPlus filter is equipped with a special biofunctional coating.



Structure of the FreciousPlus filter

1. Particle filter layer 

This high-performance filter medium blocks almost 100 %  

of coarse particles, such as road dust, pollen and tyre dust, 

as well as the tiniest particles such as particulate matter.

2. Premium activated carbon layer 

The use of high-quality activated carbon granules removes 

unpleasant odours and harmful gases, including ozone,  

sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxides.

3. Biofunctional layer 

The special biofunctional coating with natural polyphenol 

binds free allergens. The additional antimicrobial coating 

ensures that bacteria and moulds have no source of nutrition. 
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ars that are no longer powered by fuel or 

electricity but from wood, or that are entirely made from 

wood and other organically based materials, as recently 

presented by Finnish engineers, will probably require some 

getting used to. Despite this, organic is, and will remain, a 

trend. And it’s a trend that’s no great surprise, because a 

new EU Directive stipulates that, from the beginning of this 

year, vehicle manufacturers will be required to fulfil a recy-

cling quota of 95 per cent. Furthermore, nature has served 

as an example for inventors and engineers through the 

ages.

MANN+HUMMEL has also been inspired by nature 

in the development of its products, such as the FreciousPlus 

cabin filter, which has a biofunctional, natural polyphenol 

coating. Natural products containing polyphenol occur in 

various plants, such as green tea, ginkgo and pomegranate. 

They attract insects for pollination or protect plants from 

natural pests. FreciousPlus fulfils a similar protective func-

tion with its allergen-binding filter properties in the vehicle: 

Better than human filter systems

FreciousPlus begins exactly where the human filtration 

system in the nose, bronchia and alveoli reaches its limits. 

Whether in summer due to the air conditioning system or 

just due to normal ventilation in vehicles – every second, 

vehicles on the road collect numerous particles. Without 

an appropriate cabin filter, they could quickly enter the 

airflow of the interior of the vehicle through the ventilation 

or the air conditioning system. These are particles such as 

tyre dust, diesel soot, and industrial dust and pollen, which 

can enter the human lungs and, in some cases, even 

penetrate into the bloodstream. 

Most of these particles are stopped by conventional 

cabin filters. But not fine particulate matter or allergens; the 

latter occur in pollen and stream out as soon as they burst. 

Allergens that are significantly smaller than fine particulate 

matter can even pass through the different filter layers of 

most cabin filters and reach the interior of the vehicle. 

Reddening eyes, itching, sneezing – once in the human 

breathing passages, allergens can cause all the symptoms 

with which allergy sufferers are all too familiar. Thanks to 

perfect particulate matter separation augmented by the 

new biofunctional polyphenol coating of the FreciousPlus 

cabin filter, even these tiniest of particles are (almost com-

pletely) bound and cannot penetrate the interior of the 

vehicle.

Binding and blocking

An additional antimicrobial coating also allows FreciousPlus 

to prevent bacteria and moulds from multiplying and 

reaching the interior of the vehicle. This prevents unhealthy 

and often malodorous bacteria and moulds from absorb-

ing and metabolising nutrients from the surrounding air. 

Therefore they cannot multiply, but are blocked and ren-

dered harmless.

Although it’s hidden under the bonnet and the body, 

thanks to this natural inspiration, FreciousPlus is a blessing 

for the health of allergy sufferers and people with respira-

tory tract diseases.  
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The term “stress” is increasingly 

dominating discussions in cafe-

terias and offices. The usual 

 complaint is that tasks are getting 

harder, deadlines shorter  

and that employees are no longer 

expected to just be reachable  

at the office during business 

hours. At the same time, voices 

are being heard questioning 

whether it is even possible to meet 

these demands without dropping 

everything except the office  

and the Blackberry. It is possible, 

at least according to Stewart  

Friedman, a professor at Wharton 

University of Pennsylvania.

Focussed on a 
four-way victory
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From A for Active to Z for Zumba

Health in every aspect is a central requirement for 

physical well-being and performance. When it  

is impaired, people suffer a lack of energy, motiva-

tion and stamina for meeting growing demands, 

including during everyday work. It’s here that mea-

sures and long-term offerings for health support 

at MANN+HUMMEL take effect. 

Employees benefit from future-oriented, tar-

get group-specific offerings and conditions that 

make it possible to take responsibility for their own 

health and performance. This includes, depending 

on the region, a large number of health support 

seminars to bring work requirements, well-being and 

a healthy lifestyle into harmony, as well as an 

extensive offering of diverse company sport groups.

The health of a person – especially  

mental health – of course also depends on how 

things are going outside of the office. Many  

MANN+HUMMEL employees experience the chal-

lenges of trying to balance work and family on  

a daily basis. In particular, employees with small 

children are often burdened by the guilt of not 

having enough time for their little ones. Depending 

on the region, we therefore support parents with 

flexible working hour models, home office, holiday 

childcare, or through cooperation with local 

 childcare facilities. 

“As the management of MANN+HUMMEL, 

we are expected to make the term ‘family 

 company’ a reality as well,” says Filiz Albrecht, 

Head of Human Resources at MANN+HUMMEL. 

“Specifically, this means that we take care of our 

employees and encourage them to pay attention 

to their own health, in order to stay healthy and 

continue working in the long term. In this respect, 

it is our clear objective to expand the corre-

sponding offerings in accordance with our future 

challenges.”
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hether it’s yoga classes at lunchtime, flexible 

working hours, or a childcare facility around the corner – 

companies are coming up with a variety of solutions to 

keep employee stress levels as low as possible. This is not 

an altruistic move: many CEOs have recognised that con-

tented employees perform better and long periods of 

absence due to stress can be expensive. This concern 

should come as no surprise; the World Health Organisation 

estimates that by 2020, one in every two cases of sick 

leave will be due to stress – and this will apply across all 

generations. 

Moreover, HR departments understand that Genera-

tion Y employees born between 1977 and 1999 choose 

their employer based on entirely different criteria compared 

with the generations that preceded them. This generation 

is clear on one thing: they want to balance work with all the 

other areas of their lives. 

Harmony instead of limited thinking

For American researcher Stewart Friedman, these develop-

ments come as no surprise. “The so-called ‘Generation Y’ 

grew up with the latest technologies. Technologies that let 

them stay connected to work 24 hours a day. That’s tiring. 

So naturally they need some distance to gather their 

energy again.” 

Since the 1980s, Friedman has been interested in the 

integration of career and private life. His book “Total Lead-

ership: Be a Better Leader, Have a Richer Life” has won 

multiple awards and the programme of the same name 

has been implemented in numerous companies and insti-

tutions. Essentially, Stewart Friedman says that there is a 

“leader” in everyone that can have a positive influence on 

each of us and on the lives of others. It doesn’t matter 

where you are on the corporate ladder. The only thing you 

need is a “total”, holistic improvement in the four elemen-

tary areas of life – career, family, society and unity of body 

and mind.
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A central statement in “Total Leadership” is criticism of the 

term “work / life balance”. According to Friedman, the met-

aphor of a balance or a scale gives the impression of a 

trade-off, in that a gain in one area must necessarily mean 

a loss in the other. Friedman’s studies over many years 

have produced entirely different results, however. “Our 

research into the effects of our Total Leadership pro-

gramme have shown us a few things. After participants 

focussed on what they found truly important, part of their 

attention normally moved away from work. But at the same 

time, they felt as though they had become more productive 

at work.” So there’s no haggling between areas? Easier 

said than done, as Friedman also knows. 

Focusing on what’s “most important”

Who and what is actually important in life is the central 

question that Friedman says each and every one of us 

must ask. For example, if family is the “most important”, 

but the least time is spent on that area, there is a discrep-

ancy that must be changed – without any negative influ-

ence on the other areas. Achieving outstanding career 

success without at the very least making sacrifices with 

regard to family life is an idea that is viewed with scepticism 

by highly ambitious employees.

Friedman is nevertheless convinced: “Today it is more 

important than ever before to focus on what is most 

important to you. That in turn increases the chances that 

you will perceive value in the end, not just in your wallet, 

but also in your soul.” To achieve this, Friedman advises 

not to try overturning everything in your life at once. 

Instead, one should do small experiments with a low risk 

and quickly visible results and bring an improvement for 

each of the four elementary areas.

Four-way victory

Leaving work a little early twice a week to go for a jog with 

your partner could be one of those experiments. This kind 

of training improves your physical health while also allow-

ing you to switch off mentally. A relaxed mind and a 

healthy body have been shown to have a positive effect 

on your productivity, concentration and creativity, and 

thus a positive effect on your career. More time together 

and shared activities are usually also positive for relation-

ships. Running can also make it possible to contribute to 

society, for example by participating in a charity run. 

“ It is important to 
focus on what 
is most import-
ant to you.” 
stewart friedman

Stewart Friedman 

is a professor at the Wharton School of Business 

at the University of Pennsylvania and the found-

ing director of the Wharton Leadership Program 

and Wharton’s Work / Life Integration Project.  

He has advised the US Department of Labor, two 

White House administrations and the United 

Nations in the area of work / life integration. He 

was selected by the US publication “HR Magazine” 

as its “Most Influential Thinker 2014” based  

on the success and relevance of his projects. 

If you can manage to focus on this “four-way win” in career, 

family, society and unity of body and mind, “you’ll not only 

divide your time better – you’ll achieve goals that match 

your personal values and talents.”  
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The MANN+HUMMEL magazine is also available 

online – optimised for your device. We will also 

continue to bring you more exciting topics in the 

MANN+HUMMEL world in future issues.

magazine.mann-hummel.com



Status report and  
Financial Statements

    Satisfactory development despite  
varying economic conditions

    Sales up by a total of 4.5 per cent to  
EUR 2,795 million

    Operating result as expected

    Strengthening market positions in the area of  
industrial and water filtration through acquisition  
of VOKES AIR and MICRODYN-NADIR

    Increase in workforce to 16,000 employees 

    “Fit for Leadership” programme continues

    Positive results from the globally  
conducted employee poll

    Slightly increased turnover expected  
for financial year 2015



Over 1,000 employees work for the MANN+HUMMEL Group around the world in Research and 

Development (R&D). They develop sustainable products and filtration solutions for automotive 

and industrial applications in close cooperation with our customers. In the year under review, 

MANN+HUMMEL spent almost EUR 106 million (almost 4 per cent of sales revenue) on 

research and development and registered 230 inventions for patent approval. This again makes 

us one of the most active patent applicants in Germany.

In 2014 we continued to intensify the global orientation of development. In this respect, we have 

expanded the Service Centre in Bangalore, India for the automotive filter element and industrial 

filter areas, turning it into the second largest company R&D location worldwide. The development 

teams in India are closely interlinked with the R&D teams in Germany. This allows us to carry out 

complete product development processes there today in cooperation with the R&D Centres of 

Competence (CoC) in Ludwigsburg, Speyer and Himmelkron. Furthermore, the Engineering 

Service Centre provides support to subsidiary companies in various regions. The transition from 

Service to Engineering Centre was made based on an internal certification process.

In 2014, employees moved into a new Testing Centre with a modern and attractive work 

 environment as part of the reorganisation of the production and development location for cabin 

filters in Himmelkron.

In 2014, we strengthened our development skills in the automotive sector by expanding devel-

opment capacities, particularly in China. We also recorded successes in Europe: we significantly 

enlarged the service range of the Czech Service Centre and expanded component testing and 

measurement capacities by completing the new testing and technology centre in the Czech 

Republic.

Research and development

Group business model
The MANN+HUMMEL Group is a leading global expert for filtration solutions as well as a 

development partner and original equipment supplier to the international automotive and 

mechanical engineering industries. The Group is divided into four business units: automotive 

original equipment, automotive aftermarket, industrial filtration and water filtration. It mainly 

develops and distributes air, oil, fuel and cabin filters and filter systems for the automotive orig-

inal equipment and aftermarket business. Applications for ambient and process air filtration for 

industry as well as membrane filters for water filtration round off the portfolio.

The company is represented at more than 60 locations on five continents. We are active world-

wide in all markets in the automotive and industrial sector and are mainly active in Asia, Europe 

and South America in the water filtration area.

The MANN+HUMMEL Group is on a solid financial footing and secures its sustainable growth 

through targeted investments in the future. MANN+HUMMEL constantly pursues the vision of 

“market leadership in filtration”. The company’s filtration know-how, built up over 75 years and 

more than 3,000 patents and utility models, represent not only a competitive advantage but 

also benefit our customers.

40 MANN+HUMMEL ANNUAL REPORT 2014   Status report  



AUTOMOTIVE

Many products again went into series production in 2014, owing to MANN+HUMMEL’s world-

wide development network. In this respect, we launched charge air ducts in China. We brought 

European skills to Asia for this purpose. We shall continue to invest in global know-how transfer 

especially for these projects.

New products in the intake manifold area went into series production. These products take up 

less space and have less weight because of pioneering manufacturing processes. At the same 

time, they contribute to the fulfilment of worldwide emissions regulations through technical 

development.

In the commercial vehicle sector we have developed solutions that address increased space 

requirements in addition to the classic round filter concept. An example is the new Exalife 

concept: it facilitates installation in narrow and flat installation spaces, which also makes it 

suitable for assembly behind the driver’s cab or under the bonnet, as is typical of American 

commercial vehicles.

We started series production of an innovative modular heating pipe concept for crankcase 

ventilation systems. This allows us to adapt products to special customer requirements more 

quickly and easily. In addition, the modular concept facilitates quick series production readiness 

even in late project stages.

To optimise thermal management in the lubricating oil circuit, we are working on requirements- 

based oil temperature control in oil modules and offer various innovative solutions in this area. 

Oil modules with new housing and sealing materials which meet increased temperature,  

pressure and media resistance requirements have also gone into series production. 

The trend in lubrication oil filters remains geared towards fully synthetic filter media.  

MANN+HUMMEL addresses this by using materials from the MULTIGRADE O-S portfolio. 

Cellulose-based mixed-fibre media still remain a focus of development. In 2014, we launched a 

new development: the MULTIGRADE O-M 15.3 media. It has a significantly higher dust holding 

capacity because of a special gradient structure. This supports the trend towards the downsiz-

ing of engine-compartment parts.

The three-stage water separation in the diesel fuel filter product segment is still enjoying signif-

icant success on the market. Virtually all customers are adhering to the concept in current 

projects and products. The fully synthetic AdBlue® filter for heavy-duty SCR (selective catalytic 

reduction) systems is another successful product from MANN+HUMMEL. The first incoming 

orders have been received for the innovative VarioPleat air cleaner concept which offers new 

possibilities in installation space utilisation due to a compact and flexible geometry. In addition 

to ensuring compliance with technical specifications, MANN+HUMMEL is equally committed 

to sustainable and environmentally friendly operations. In this respect, the first air filter element 

with an FSC-certified filter media was developed and put into series production. 
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The latest generation of automotive cabin filters offers a unique combination of anti-allergenic 

and anti-microbial properties, providing better protection of vehicle occupants against allergens 

and odours. In order to meet the higher requirements for retention of particulate matter particles, 

the biofunctional filters use a filter layer optimised for the highly efficient filtration of particulate 

matter. We presented the new FreciousPlus filters for the first time at the Automechanika 2014. 

Initial OE customers are convinced of the benefits of the new filter generation. Biofunctional 

cabin filters are now also being utilised in original equipment.

NON-AUTOMOTIVE

In 2014, the engineering of the Industrial Filtration Business Unit focused on two things: reinforc-

ing international engineering and developing new products in order to expand existing modular 

product ranges. This will make an important contribution to the future growth of the business 

unit.

In the air cleaner product segment, our Engineering Centre in South Korea has started series 

production of the IQORON-V 4.5. The filter expands the existing series into the smaller perfor-

mance classes for flow rates of up to 4.5 m3/min. High filtration requirements are set in order to 

satisfy future emission limits. MANN+HUMMEL meets these requirements with air filters that 

are equipped with an air mass sensor connection if required. This sensor ensures optimised 

combustion in the engine and thus reduced CO2 emissions from the engine and lower fuel 

consumption.

Spurred on by the corporate vision of “Leadership in Filtration”, the Industrial Filtration Business 

Unit is also constantly working on reinforcing its innovative capability. Innovative capability is 

measured by the number of innovative projects for new series that have unique selling points. 

Innovative capability has trebled between 2013 and 2014.

A further related focus was on the development and market introduction of high-performance 

cabin filters for railway vehicles that exhibit significantly higher filtration efficiency and longer 

service life compared with conventional filter mats. The innovative cabin filters meet demanding 

approval criteria for railway vehicles and provide better air quality to passengers and vehicle 

drivers. They help operators to lower operating costs.

MICRODYN-NADIR in Wiesbaden, a worldwide manufacturer of membranes and modules for 

water filtration, coordinates worldwide development activities in water filtration under its guid-

ance. In autumn 2014, appropriate organisational changes were carried out for this purpose in 

Singapore and Wiesbaden. The development activities are closely coordinated and are intended 

primarily to improve product quality and process reliability while simultaneously reducing costs.

A newly developed family of ultrafiltration modules with increased pressure resistance permits 

a significantly broader spectrum of use even for critical applications, for example in hydraulically 

loaded installation spaces.
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Overall economic and  
industry-specific conditions

GLOBAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 2014

Hopes for a fundamental revival of the global economy were not realised.1 Global economic 

expansion has once again stalled over the course of 2014 and the world economy is far from an 

upturn that would drive all regions.2 The risks for the global economy remain high. Geopolitical 

developments such as the Ukraine conflict and the associated tensions with Russia, the situa-

tion in Syria and in Iraq under the cloud of terrorism instigated by the so-called Islamic State or 

recurring turbulence on the financial markets can quickly have major effects on global economic 

development.3 For 2014 as a whole, economic research institutes forecast growth between 2.7 4 

and 3.35 per cent. 

The economic revival that began in the spring of 2013 in the Eurozone did not continue.6 For 

2014 as a whole, economic research institutes have forecasted growth of 0.8 per cent.5 

In Germany economic growth has once again advanced slightly. After a strong start to the year, 

the second quarter of 2014 experienced negative growth. However, the last two quarters have 

again seen positive growth. Domestic consumption still continues to be the backbone of 

growth.5 There was also 1.6 per cent growth for the whole of 2014.7

The economy in the United States has once again moved forward significantly after a small 

phase of weakness at the beginning of the year.2 The increase in gross domestic product turned 

out to be quite restrained in 2014 at over 2.4 per cent because of the weak development at the 

beginning of the year.8 

1 VDA Konjunkturbarometer Oktober 2014 [VDA Economic Barometer October 2014], VDA (Berlin), October 2014

2 Weltkonjunktur im Herbst 2014 [Global Economy in Autumn 2014], Institute for the World Economy (Kiel), September 2014

3  Gemeinschaftsdiagnose Herbst 2014 [Joint Economic Forecast Autumn 2014], German Institute for Economic Research e.V. (Berlin), 

October 2014

4 Ifo Konjunkturprognose 2014 / 2015 [Ifo Economic Forecast 2014 / 2015], Ifo Institute (Munich), December 2014

5 VDA Konjunkturbarometer Januar 2015 [VDA Economic Barometer January 2015], VDA (Berlin), January 2015

6  Gesamtwirtschaftliche Projektionen für das Euro-Währungsgebiet [Total economic projections for the Eurozone],  

European Central Bank (Frankfurt), September 2014

7 VDA Konjunkturbarometer Februar 2015 [VDA Economic Barometer February 2015], VDA (Berlin), February 2015

8 World Economic Outlook Update [World Economic Outlook Update], International Monetary Fund (Washington, USA), January 2015

An extension of the BIO-CEL® production line in Wiesbaden will allow the fully automated pro-

duction of very large membrane stacks for BIO-CEL® XL modules. These modules bring enor-

mous advantages when building large sewage treatment plants due to lower costs of installation, 

lower energy consumption and a long lifetime.
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In China the government has been supporting the economy since spring with a series of mea-

sures.9 This has caused gross domestic product in the second quarter to once again be 

markedly higher than at the beginning of the year. Growth was 7.4 per cent.10

AUTOMOTIVE SECTOR

The global market for passenger cars grew more slowly in 2014 than was expected at the 

beginning of the year. The reasons for this are primarily the weak sales in the BRI countries and 

a slight downward correction in the China forecast. The three large automotive markets of 

Western Europe, USA and China have continued to grow. New registrations in Western Europe 

increased by 5 per cent in 2014. The US market rose by just under 6 per cent. Passenger car 

sales in China rose by just under 13 per cent. Passenger car sales in India also increased by 

almost 1 per cent. However, demand in Brazil (– 7 per cent) and Russia (– 10 per cent) again 

dropped.11 In Russia, this is partly due to the Ukraine conflict but domestic economic develop-

ment is also responsible. In Germany, registrations of manufacturers reached new record highs, 

thereby concealing the actual sales situation.12  

The commercial vehicle market in Europe experienced a relatively good first half of the year. 

However, sales figures were distorted by advanced purchases in the fourth quarter of 2014.12 

Sales of commercial vehicles in Western Europe rose by 7 per cent, but sales of trucks heavier 

than 6 tonnes dropped by 8 per cent. Sales in Germany increased by 5 per cent. Sales of trucks 

up to 6 tonnes (+ 7 per cent) played a key role in this increase. The market in the USA for heavy 

and medium-duty trucks showed above-average growth. The volume of sales rose by 16 per 

cent. The commercial vehicle market in Brazil has once again lost further ground. The volume 

of sales decreased by 12 per cent. The Chinese commercial vehicle market also suffered a 

marked drop. Truck sales fell by 10 per cent.11 

INDUSTRIAL CONSTRUCTION AND MECHANICAL ENGINEERING SECTOR

Worldwide industrial production in 2014 experienced somewhat better development than in the 

previous year. Economists from the German Engineering association (VDMA) report a  

5 per cent growth for 2014 as a whole. Industrial nations experienced improved development. 

There was one per cent growth in sales in Europe and Germany, and 7 per cent in Great Britain. 

Developing and emerging countries retained the previous year’s rate of growth in terms of  

volume, and only industrial production in Latin America went into negative figures.13

9  Gemeinschaftsdiagnose Herbst 2014 [Joint Economic Forecast Autumn 2014], German Institute for Economic Research e.V. (Berlin), 

October 2014

10 World Economic Outlook Update, International Monetary Fund (Washington, USA), January 2015

11 VDA Konjunkturbarometer Februar 2015 [VDA Economic Barometer February 2015], VDA (Berlin), February 2015

12  Wolken am Horizont – Ausblick und Perspektiven für Automotives [Clouds on the Horizon – Overview and Perspectives  

for the Automotive Industry], LBBW Research (Stuttgart), October 2014

13  VDMA Prognosespiegel international Februar 2015 [VDMA Forecast Mirror International February 2015], VDMA (Frankfurt),  

February 2015
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Business trends
MANN+HUMMEL’s development was satisfactory in 2014, despite the varying economic 

 conditions. Sales of the MANN+HUMMEL Group increased by a total of 4.5 per cent to 

EUR 2,795 million (previous year: EUR 2,675 million). Adjusted for currency effects, sales in the 

year under review were EUR 2,913 million and the growth rate was 8.9 per cent. Sales have 

developed as planned and are now at the forecasted level. The operating result is at the prior 

year’s level and therefore within expectations despite difficulties arising out of the economic 

development in Brazil, the integration of the American aftermarket of the Purolator brand and 

the unfavourable development in exchange rates.

AUTOMOTIVE ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT

In 2014 sales in the Automotive Original Equipment Business Unit increased slightly for the fifth 

consecutive year in comparison to the previous year despite the considerable downturn in sales 

due, among other things, to the difficult market situation in Brazil. In particular, this continued to 

be due to the positive development in our European foreign subsidiary companies and in Asia.

In Germany, the sales volume in 2014 was less than the previous year. In the German plants, we 

were not able to fully compensate for the loss of important revenue earners for the passenger 

car business. Sales in the commercial vehicle business also dropped compared to the previous 

year’s level, but we have launched series production of new fuel and air cleaners which will 

secure future sales.

In European countries we were able to increase sales compared to the previous year with 

successful new product launches, primarily in France, Italy and the Czech Republic. 

Sales in North America increased for the fourth consecutive year. The reasons for this are fur-

ther series production launches and market gains in air cleaner systems. The weak economic 

trend in South America, especially in Brazil, dampened results. Sales in this region dropped.

In Asia, sales were up once again. In China, we achieved a growth in sales compared to the 

previous year because of series production launches among local customers. Sales also con-

tinued to grow in India. Sales remained at the previous year’s level in South Korea, while sales 

in Japan further decreased from the previous year’s level.

Other reasons for the positive development were series production launches of new products 

and global projects in air induction and fluid management. Innovative air cleaner systems and 

acoustic products, intake manifolds and technical plastic parts as well as oil and fuel filters were 

successfully placed on the market worldwide. 
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AUTOMOTIVE AFTERMARKET

Business in the independent aftermarket

In 2014, the Automotive Aftermarket Business Unit also achieved two-digit growth with the 

MANN-FILTER brand. Despite the continuing difficult market environment in parts of Europe 

and South America, we were once again able to increase sales there slightly. The acquisition of 

new customers has primarily contributed to the growth in sales. The business unit has experi-

enced above-average growth rates in Asia, especially in China. 

A repeated comprehensive programme of expansion with more than 200 new filter types for 

passenger car, commercial vehicle and off-highway segments allowed us to secure market 

coverage for the European vehicle fleet of over 97 per cent.

Apart from the focus on the cabin filter product line, the MANN-FILTER brand was the centre of 

attention at the trade show for the international automotive aftermarket – Automechanika in 

Frankfurt. We had face-to-face conversations and developed contacts with numerous custom-

ers from Germany and abroad at the newly designed exhibition stand. Apart from the market 

launch of the biofunctional cabin filter FreciousPlus, discussions focused on product innovations 

from the fluid and air filtration units as well as the MANN-FILTER original equipment quality over 

the entire maintenance interval. 

Business with original equipment suppliers

In spite of the somewhat difficult conditions, we also managed in 2014 to further expand sales 

in the aftermarket among automotive manufacturers. After lively business trends in the first half 

of the year, we witnessed a significant turbulence in business especially in the autumn. How-

ever, business livened up again towards the end of the year. Just as in the previous year, growth 

was driven by the aftermarket in China.

OEM business with first-tier manufacturers

The OEM business in 2014 grew significantly among first-tier manufacturers due to several 

start-up projects and lifecycle-related rising volumes. The positive development in the cabin 

filter business among air conditioning system manufacturers merits special mention.

NON-AUTOMOTIVE

Industrial filtration

The Industrial Filters Business Unit also experienced difficult economic times in 2014. Nonethe-

less, we increased sales significantly compared to the previous year. The strongest growth took 

place in the Americas, especially in the USA. Europe experienced inconsistent development. 

Whereas Germany and the markets directly overseen by Germany as well as France and Spain 

saw high increases in sales, sales dropped in Great Britain and Italy. Asia does not meet expec-

tations in spite of sales increases in South Korea, Japan, India and China.
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In the construction, agricultural machine and engine segments, MANN+HUMMEL experienced 

growth compared to the previous year in spite of declining market volumes worldwide. The 

business segment continues to follow the planned growth path. Significant growth in the con-

struction machine area compensated for the decrease in the agricultural machine segment and 

a weak Asian market. The independent aftermarket segment on a global level also reached the 

forecasted level of sales growth compared to the previous year. Individual markets experienced 

inconsistent growth: markets such as Russia and the US had above-average growth. Key 

European markets just about reached the forecasted level. Economic effects and strong com-

petitive pressure were felt in Asia. Organisational improvements and the expansion of the 

product range have had a positive effect overall. These initiatives will continue to be pursued or 

intensified in 2015. 

The industry and energy business area closed 2014 at levels exceeding the previous year but 

slightly below the forecast. The various segments experienced inconsistent development. 

Growth was due to the compressed-air technology segment where the focus was on the 

development of global OEMs and strengthening of the aftermarket. The other segments of the 

business area such as EDM (electric discharge machines) and large engines closed 2014 at the 

previous year’s level. In 2014 we acquired additional OEMs as customers in the EDM business 

in Japan, and this will have a positive effect on growth in the following years. The large engine 

business has been impeded by a faltering economy since the middle of the year. Furthermore, 

the power generation segment saw shifts in customer projects which caused sales to fall below 

expectations. 

The newly acquired VOKES AIR has belonged to MANN+HUMMEL’s Industrial Filters Business 

Unit since February 2014. MANN+HUMMEL VOKES AIR will close 2014 at the previous year’s 

level. While the gas turbine filter business suffered due to difficult conditions in Europe, we saw 

sales increases in air filters in the marine segment. 2014 was the year of the “post-merger 

integration”. This is running according to plan and is even spilling over to 2015. In the areas of 

logistics, distribution, purchasing and finances we were able to take advantage of synergies 

that will also extend to other areas of the organisation in 2015.

Water filtration

50 per cent of shares in the MICRODYN-NADIR Group have belonged to MANN+HUMMEL 

since May 2014. MICRODYN-NADIR has since then been responsible for our water business 

with the goal of reinforcing MANN+HUMMEL’s expertise in water filtration. Since then, our 

membrane-related activities have been conducted under the MICRODYN-NADIR brand and 

our ultrafiltration membranes and modules sold under the AQUADYN® product name. Multifar-

ious restructuring activities are planned during the course of this realignment.
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Finances

The turnover of the MANN+HUMMEL Group experienced nominal growth of 4.5 per cent to 

EUR 2,795 million compared to the previous year (adjusted for currency effects to the previous 

year’s rates: 8.9 per cent to EUR 2,913 million). The increase is primarily attributable to the 

positive development in the automotive aftermarket business. Total operating performance 

experienced nominal growth of 3.2 per cent.

The outstanding order backlog amounts to roughly EUR 1,217 million.  

Other operating income fell by EUR 24 million to EUR 39 million compared to the previous year. 

This was primarily due to the loss of special effects included in 2013, as well as lower income 

from the release of provisions and asset disposal.

The cost-of-materials ratio (56.6 per cent) remained constant compared to the previous year. In 

absolute terms, material costs increased by EUR 48 million. 

Personnel costs increased by EUR 12 million in absolute terms. Reasons include the increase 

in the number of employees as well as wage increases in the past fiscal year. With an increase 

of 24.5 per cent, the personnel cost ratio fell by 0.3 percentage points compared to the 

previous year. 

2014 2013 Difference

EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

Sales 2,795 100.5 2,675 99.2  120

Changes in inventories and own work capitalised – 14 – 0.5 21 0.8 – 35

Total operating performance 2,781 100.0 2,696 100.0  85

Other operating income 39 1.4 63 2.3 – 24

Material costs 1,575  56.6 1,527 56.6  48

Personnel costs 680 24.5 668 24.8  12

Depreciation and amortisation 101 3.6 95 3.5  6

Other operating costs 324 11.7 318 11.8  6

Earnings before financial result and income taxes 140 5.0 151 5.6 – 11

Financial result – 37 – 1.3 − 29 − 1.1 − 8

Result from ordinary activities 103 3.7 122 4.5 – 19

Income taxes 29 1.0 20 0.7  9

Net income 74 2.7 102 3.8 – 28

EARNINGS SITUATION

Earnings situation of the MANN+HUMMEL Group
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Depreciation and amortisation experienced a nominal increase of EUR 6 million, or 6.3 per cent. 

Due to the increase in sales compared to the previous year, depreciation and amortisation as a 

proportion of total operating performance remained at 3.6 per cent, almost the same amount 

as the previous year.

Other operating expenses in relation to total operating performance decreased slightly compared to 

the previous year, to 11.7 per cent. There was an increase of EUR 6 million in absolute terms. 

EBIT (earnings before interest and taxes) fell by EUR 11 million in comparison to the previous 

year to EUR 140 million. Profit margin on turnover was 5.0 per cent.

Financial results fell by  EUR 8 million to EUR –  37 million. This was primarily due to a change to 

the discount interest rate for the pension provisions, increased interest expenses due to the 

increase of bank debts and the registered bond issued. 

Income tax expenses increased by a total of EUR 9 million to EUR 29 million and resulted in a 

group tax rate of 28.2 per cent. 

FINANCIAL SITUATION

Cash flow

2014 2013

EUR million EUR million

Net income / loss 74 102

(+/−) Paid / refunded taxes on income 46 43

(−/+) Interest received / interest paid 4 7

Earnings before paid  and received interest and taxes 124 152

Depreciation and appreciation of fixed assets 101 95

Change in long-term provisions 14 6

Other expenditure / income not affecting payments 1 23

Gross cash flow 240 276

Changes in funds from operating activities – 57 –79

Inflow of funds from operating activities 183 197

Outflow of funds for investment activities – 161 – 191

Free cash flow 22 6

Cash flow from financial activities 77 64

Payment-effective change to cash funds 99 70

Changes in cash funds from exchange rate movements, 
changes in Group structure and valuation differences 9 – 6

Cash funds at end of period 327 219

The cash flow figures were determined in accordance with DRS 2.
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The MANN+HUMMEL Group generated a gross cash flow in the sum of EUR 240 million in the 

past financial year. The drop of EUR 36 million or 13.0 per cent in comparison with the previous 

year is due to the reduction in net income. The financing potential is 8.6 per cent of turnover.

 

A total balance of EUR 57 million was used to finance ongoing business activities. The greater 

part was accounted for by taxes and interest (EUR 50 million) as well as by other assets  

(EUR 20 million). Current operational assets, on the other hand, fell by EUR 13 million. The 

resulting operational cash flow was thus EUR 183 million. This financed payments for invest-

ments in the amount of EUR 161 million (previous year: EUR 191 million) including acquisition 

payments, resulting in a free cash flow of EUR 22 million.

In addition to the increased liquidity due to the free cash flow, the strategic liquidity reserve was 

further built up with a net financing total of another EUR 77 million, which with the raising of 

long-term credit and a registered bond will serve to secure future financial needs. Cash funds 

thus rose from EUR 219 million in the previous year to EUR 327 million in the year under review.

INVESTMENTS
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The MANN+HUMMEL Group made investments in tangible assets in the sum of EUR 141 million 

in the 2014 financial year (previous year: EUR 126 million). The proportion of tangible asset 

additions in relation to the corresponding sales volume thus increased by 0.3 percentage points 

to 5.0 per cent.

Overall, the greatest volumes of investment in 2014 were in Germany, the USA, China and the 

Czech Republic. The volume of investment in the past financial year is faced with group-wide 

depreciation and amortisation for tangible assets of EUR 81 million. 

EUR 67 million of the investments in tangible assets (46 per cent) in the past financial year were 

made in the “Automotive Original Equipment” Division. EUR 56 million (39 per cent) were 

invested in the “Automotive Aftermarket” Division. 

Investments were mainly made in machines and tools to realise customer projects and imple-

ment new technologies (EUR 99 million). At the Portage / Michigan location in the USA, invest-

ments were made in production capacity for the production of air intake systems. The largest 

investments in the year under review were made in production technologies at the production 

locations Marklkofen / Germany, Jiading and Changchun / China and Okrisky / Czech Republic.

The MANN+HUMMEL Group also invested almost EUR 34 million in building measures to 

expand and improve infrastructure worldwide in the past year. The largest individual projects in 

2014 were the construction of the Technology Centre (including a parking garage) in Ludwigs-

burg / Germany, investment in the South Campus building in Portage / Michigan and the new 

building in Uherský Brod / Czech Republic. The largest single project in the “Automotive After-

market” Division was the expansion of the central warehouse in Niederaichbach / Germany.
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The balance sheet total increased in the 2014 financial year by 20.6 per cent to EUR 2,234 million. 

This corresponds to an increase of EUR 382 million. This increase is largely the result of the  

issue of a registered bond and the raising of loans as well as the first-time consolidation of 

MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu / China and MANN+HUMMEL  

Togliatti OOO, Togliatti / Russian Federation. 

NET ASSET POSITION

Assets

% 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Total assets in EUR million 2,234 1,852 1,666 1,651 1,478

Growth rate in % 20.6 11.2 0.9 11.7 13.6
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Fixed assets increased by 25.5 per cent to EUR 1,049 million compared with the previous year. 

Intangible assets and tangible assets also increased by around EUR 6 million to EUR 102 million 

and by EUR 88 million to EUR 638 million, respectively. Financial assets also rose by  

EUR 119 million to EUR 309 million. Of that amount, shares in affiliated companies rose by  

EUR 3 million to EUR 30 million. This increase was primarily due to the purchase of the VOKES 

AIR Group and the first-time consolidation of MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., 

Bengbu /China.

Inventories increased by EUR 14 million to EUR 325 million, which is also largely attributable to 

the first-time consolidation of MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu / China. 

Receivables and other current assets increased by EUR 69 million to EUR 517 million. This was 

due to the increase in other assets by EUR 33 million to EUR 103 million, amongst other things.

Liquid funds (including other securities in the previous year) increased by EUR 78 million overall 

to EUR 327 million.

Liabilities

% 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Total assets in EUR million 2,234 1,852 1,666 1,651 1,478

Growth rate in % 20.6 11.2 0.9 11.7 13.6
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Employees
From apprentices to senior executives, MANN+HUMMEL acquires and retains qualified 

employees by means of a human resources policy geared towards target groups and demo-

graphics. This includes strategically planned training, education and qualification offers. 

Through courses and workshops, MANN+HUMMEL gives employees the opportunity to 

expand their knowledge in various areas and thus be a co-participant in their own career path. 

More than 30 students have already successfully graduated from the Group’s internal Chinese 

Engineering School. The programme was first started three years ago in order to keep young 

Chinese engineers at MANN+HUMMEL and thus train the company’s own specialists. Pro-

gramme participants work on projects over several months in development outside China 

before they start their day-to-day work in China as fully trained specialists.

Managers have to fulfil the challenging task of recognising potential and encouraging employ-

ees according to their capabilities. We have therefore continued our “Fit for Leadership” pro-

gramme this year and expanded it by means of seminars such as “Leader as Coach” or “Situ-

ational Leadership”. Over 90 per cent of defined participants have taken part in these training 

programmes over the last three years.

However, being fit for the future also means feeling prepared for it in terms of health.  

MANN+HUMMEL’s company health promotion programmes, which are customised for various 

occupational and age groups, provides support in this area. In December 2014, we won the HR 

Excellence Award of the German magazine Human Resources Manager for our Germany-wide 

standardised trainee health programme called YOLO@MANN+HUMMEL. Our efforts are also 

reflected in our rate of illness, at only 3.6 per cent worldwide.

In the year under review, shareholders’ equity increased by EUR 104 million to EUR 812 million. 

The shareholders’ equity ratio fell by 2.0 percentage points to 36.3 per cent compared to the 

previous year.

Provisions increased overall by EUR 22 million to EUR 554 million. This corresponds to an 

increase of 4.1 per cent. Fundamental influences on this, as in the previous year, were the 

development of pension provisions and the addition of accrued taxes.

The bank debts of the MANN+HUMMEL Group increased again from EUR 264 million to  

EUR 379 million to secure liquidity. The MANN+HUMMEL Group also issued a registered bond 

with a nominal value of EUR 100 million. At EUR 388 million, other liabilities in the year under 

review increased compared to the previous year’s level of EUR 346 million. This was due to the 

increase in trade payables as a result of extension of payment terms.
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Environmental protection
MANN+HUMMEL is committed to its corporate values. One of these values is based on the 

respect with which we wish to treat people, nature and resources. This principle was highlighted 

again in 2014 through various initiatives.

Examples are the successful implementation of a holistic energy efficiency programme in Spain, 

the installation of energy-saving illumination and motion sensors in Great Britain and the optimi-

sation of plastic scrap recycling in France. In the area of environmental protection, we go beyond 

just trying to comply with the relevant government legislation. We even outperform these restric-

tions in many cases with the help of our globally linked environmental management programme. 

An ongoing and globally standardised monitoring of production processes and resource con-

sumption rounds off our commitment to a respectful attitude towards the environment.

In order to support employees in combining work and occupation, MANN+HUMMEL cooper-

ates with childcare facilities in several locations and has its own centre offering care for children 

during school holidays. Moreover, we are working to expand options for home office and flexible 

work models. We already offer more than 200 different work models worldwide. 

We advertise our initiatives and programmes through social media, our company blog and 

directly on site at international recruitment and job fairs. We have expanded MANN+HUMMEL 

activities in HR marketing, primarily online, in order to offer a cross-generational platform to 

interested parties through this channel as well. This allows trainees, job starters, specialists and 

experienced managers to benefit from a response oriented towards target groups.

However, recruiting and retaining qualified employees is only one component in our strategy. 

Together with the above-mentioned programmes, our corporate values based on teamwork, 

respect and integrity should also help create an atmosphere of open dialogue. That we are 

successful in this endeavour was demonstrated by the positive results of the worldwide 

employee survey conducted in spring 2014. In almost all categories, our employee evaluation 

was stable or had even improved. The fluctuation rate at MANN+HUMMEL is also at a very low 

level – a worldwide rate of 2.3 per cent. 

 

The number of employees worldwide increased in the past year to 16,000 employees primarily 

through acquisitions.
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Purchasing
The global purchasing volume of the MANN+HUMMEL Group increased in 2014 compared to 

the previous year by 4.1 per cent and reached EUR 1,915 million in total due, among other 

things, to newly acquired companies and sales growth. 66 per cent of this amount is attributable 

to production materials and 34 per cent to merchandise parts, non-production materials and 

services.

In the financial year 2014, material prices experienced uneven developments. On the one hand, 

expansion of the global economy once again floundered, but this did not lead to feared price 

increases everywhere, even though there were regional differences. On the other hand, we 

found ourselves dealing on some markets with considerable inflation rates and price increases 

because of unfavourable exchange rate developments.

MANN+HUMMEL Purchasing contributed positively towards Group earnings through depart-

ments such as the global Category Management, our international purchasing offices and our 

local purchasing units. The streamlining and material substitution projects initiated and overseen 

by Purchasing contributed significantly to this. 

In this connection, the value analysis / value stream workshops that we successfully implemented  

with our many suppliers must also be mentioned. They are part of our development programme 

for suppliers whose capacities we expanded in the previous year. In conjunction with our 

 suppliers, we would like to continue improving the quality of our products and support global 

Category Management even more intensively in the development of our supplier portfolio.

The forward-looking environmental management system of MANN+HUMMEL stands out due 

to a certification alliance that allows experts from 23 production locations worldwide to exchange 

information on statistics and best practices. In 2014, thanks to this system, we successfully 

passed recertification of locations in the certification alliance in accordance with the interna-

tional standard ISO 14001. In addition, all German production locations of our company are 

certified according to the Audits Eco Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS) developed by the 

European Union.

In July 2014 we opened a new warehouse for raw materials and supplies at MANN+HUMMEL 

headquarters in Ludwigsburg. Raw materials and supplies such as oils, greases and acids are 

components of the company’s routine operation. The proper storage and handling of these 

materials are not only prescribed by law, but are also essential for the safety of employees.

In 2014, the MANN+HUMMEL location in Asia showed special commitment to the issues of 

health and safety. Noteworthy activities, for example, include the safety campaigns regarding 

the use of LPG cylinders, an awareness-raising campaign for thyroid diseases in India as well 

as safety training in Thailand, which involved first-aid courses and training in firefighting and 

evacuation. These efforts have paid off: 16 locations worldwide celebrated one year without 

injuries with downtime in 2014.
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Information technology
2014 was marked by a strategic realignment in IT (IT evolution). The objective was to ensure a 

long-standing business IT alignment and direct IT support towards individual requirements. 

Elementary components of this realignment are effective business relationship management, 

holistic process support, process standardisation, further expansion of shared services and 

consistent regionalisation. We undertook far-reaching restructuring in our IT organisation in 

order to make this realignment sustainable.

SAP software is the company-wide basis for MANN+HUMMEL processes. Around 7,000 employ-

ees at 53 locations worldwide now work with the central SAP system. In the previous financial 

year, the focus was on the rollout of this system at the Chinese location Changchun. We have 

also completed SAP integration at MANN+HUMMEL Purolator Filters LLC in the United States 

and MANN+HUMMEL Canada, Inc.

As part of the standardisation of processes, a SAP template was developed for commercial 

companies, which we are rolling out in 2015 for the first time. The second step involves the 

definition of a template for satellite plants.

Rollout of the manufacturing execution system “Forcam” continues. The system is to be  

implemented at 20 further production locations in the next two years.

We continued to roll out unified communications with Microsoft Lync across the Group in 2014. 

Also this year, we have almost completed the further development of our new intranet based on 

SharePoint 2013 with social media functions. This will further encourage communication and 

cooperation across locations and time zones.

We place a high value on the further development of our systems in terms of efficient mapping 

of and support for purchasing processes. We have steadily intensified the use of electronic 

enquiries (eSourcing) through our supplier portal eCONN – also for non-production materials – 

and have essentially completed the introduction of our internal MANN+HUMMEL workflow to 

manage ordering and approval processes.

In addition to the systems, our employees are key factors in the continuous improvement of 

effectiveness and efficiency in purchasing. In this connection we have supplemented our global 

employee training concept – the so-called Purchasing Academy – with the topic of “Training on 

the Job”. Each employee in Purchasing now has access to our topic-specific training material 

and videos at any time. We are constantly developing a uniform knowledge base in the organi-

sation using our training units as part of the Purchasing Academy (supplemented by individual 

training and education activities).
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Opportunities and risk report 
In addition to opportunities, our worldwide operational activities also give rise to a number of 

different risks. Our business policy thus aims to recognise potential but also the negative effects 

of current and future developments at an early stage, to assess these and to keep their conse-

quences under control. We have plans for quickly realisable measures for this purpose. We 

report to the company owner and the Supervisory Board regularly in this regard.

The MANN+HUMMEL Group treasury assumes responsibility for limiting financing and liquidity 

risks. It manages all activities relating to liquidity and financing. Our risks in this area are low 

thanks to solid financing and a stable liquidity position. The consistent monitoring of liquid funds 

is an effective risk management tool for us. We monitor, analyse and track receivables, liabilities 

and inventories. We optimise cash flow as well as sales and earnings, and reduce tied-up cur-

rent assets.

Exchange rate, interest rate and raw material price risks bear significance for the  

MANN+HUMMEL Group. Exchange rate risks are hedged using derivative financial instruments, 

which serve exclusively to cover underlying transactions resulting from the operating activity of the 

Group that entails financial risk. Long-term fixed interest rates account for the interest rate risk.

Sales figures have stagnated in Western Europe and Europe as a whole has been losing impor-

tance in a global context for many years. Should the debt and banking crises flare up again, this 

would aggravate the sales situation in Europe once more.

China has replaced Europe and the USA as the largest single market. The emerging countries, 

India and Brazil, have actually weakened lately, but still have great potential. German automotive 

manufacturers in particular continue to invest in new production facilities in these countries. 

Consequently, there are also growth opportunities in these regions and we are therefore con-

tinuing to encourage internationalisation. In 2014, we built numerous new plants or put them 

into operation, including our new cabin filter plant in Uhersky Brod (Czech Republic).

To further increase IT and information security, we continued a project to implement an informa-

tion security management system (ISMS) and, in 2015, the first departments of the company will 

have support in ISO 27001 certification.

We are continuing to expand the IT Service Centre in the Czech Republic and India. We expect 

our IT suppliers to make a significant contribution to decreasing our costs by way of innovative 

solutions and continuous cost optimisation.
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Together with the matrix organisation already established in 2010, the new strategic orientation 

of research and development will enable us to respond to local market and customer require-

ments even better.

Product innovations play an important role in our market success. New potential for future 

product innovations arises, for example, from cooperation with the North Carolina State Univer-

sity. The Non-Woven Institute located in Raleigh, North Carolina, USA, and our new North 

Carolina Innovation Centre (NCIC) work side by side on the same campus. In our first develop-

ment centre outside of our own four walls, we combine research and development, strategy 

and innovation under one roof. The newly founded company I2M is also based in Raleigh. Its 

purpose is to secure the rapid commercialisation of new technologies. As soon as these have 

achieved a sufficient degree of maturity, integration into the MANN+HUMMEL organisation will 

take place.

We will strengthen and further expand our market position in the Industrial and Water  

Filtration Business Units through the acquisition of VOKES AIR and the joint venture with  

MICRODYN- NADIR. To support our diversification strategy, we will also continue to monitor 

possible acquisitions.

Despite the great opportunities presented to us as a result of this, we cannot ignore the asso-

ciated risks. The effective integration of acquired companies is an extra organisational burden. 

We are facing these challenges with proven and clearly defined integration processes. How-

ever, the start-up of every new production site presents a variety of potential risks. We have a 

wealth of experience of this, as well as tried and tested methods and processes from the 

 MANN+HUMMEL management and quality system.

On the procurement markets, the particular risks for us are the prices for raw material and other 

materials. Raw material prices will hardly increase because of modest momentum in world 

industrial production. Experts are assuming a moderate price development. With long-term 

contracts, a selection of strategic, globally positioned suppliers and the monitoring of exchange 

rates, we are attempting to compensate these cost increases as far as possible.

All risk management measures are supported by a company-wide planning, reporting and 

controlling system.

The global economic situation is marked by unsteady markets and structural risks. As a globally 

active company, we counter these risks by diversifying and continually improving processes 

and products. No risks that could jeopardise the future of the Group can be identified at present.
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Forecast report 
For the automotive industry, the VDA also forecasts continued growth for 2015 which will be 

almost on the same level as 2014. Lower growth is expected in China and the USA, while Brazil 

and India and growing again.14 As market volatility and structural risks have generally increased, 

global positioning and increased flexibility are increasingly important success factors both for 

our customers and for MANN+HUMMEL. We will take these requirements into account and 

continue our internationalisation. 

Under current conditions, we expect sales to be slightly above the previous year’s level for our 

Automotive Original Equipment Business Unit in 2015. After years of strong growth, there is now 

stabilisation of sales with lower growth rates. This is also due to the significant decline in sales 

of customer directed parts. 

We are expecting slight sales growth compared to the previous year in the automotive aftermar-

ket based on a slight increase in fleet vehicles of 3.4 per cent. However, developments in the 

highly inflationary countries Argentina, Brazil and, most recently, Turkey could have negative 

effects. In 2015, investment activity should increase in industrial and mechanical engineering. 

The VDMA forecasts 5.0 per cent growth for mechanical engineering in 2015.15 This view is 

shared by both MANN+HUMMEL and our customers. We are therefore expecting a slight 

increase in sales in the industrial filter sector thanks to new customer orders. Furthermore, we 

are continuing our growth strategy in the non-automotive area with the acquisition of the  

VOKES AIR Group. 

14 VDA Konjunkturbarometer November 2014 [VDA Economic Barometer November 2014], VDA (Berlin), November 2014

15 VDMA Prognosespiegel international Dezember 2014 [Forecast Mirror International December 2014], (Frankfurt), December 2014

Supplementary report 
In February 2015 we increased our shares in MICRODYN-NADIR GmbH in Wiesbaden from 

50 per cent to 100 per cent. 

MANN+HUMMEL acquired 50 per cent of the shares in MICRODYN-NADIR in May 2014. 

MICRODYN-NADIR specialises in manufacturing and selling flat membranes. It is one of the 

world’s leading suppliers of membranes and modules for micro, ultra and nanofiltration. 

MICRODYN-NADIR’s headquarters are in Wiesbaden and it also has subsidiaries in Xiamen /  

China and Raleigh / USA.

No events of particular significance that would have affected the net assets, financial and 

earnings situation of the MANN+HUMMEL Group occurred after 31 December 2014.
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Based on increased development and sales activities, we are expecting a significant growth in 

sales in the water filtration area with new, international customer projects. Moreover, we are 

reinforcing our market position through the acquisition of MICRODYN-NADIR. 

From a regional standpoint, we expect only slightly increased sales in Western Europe and 

Germany. However, the greatest growth is coming from Asia and America. 

The liquidity situation at MANN+HUMMEL remains solid. There are contingency plans in place 

for the event of short-term market changes or the effects of a returning financial crisis. 

In the 2015 financial year, we expect a slight increase in sales compared to the previous year for 

the MANN+HUMMEL Group. From the current perspective, the operating results will only 

improve slightly compared to 2014. The reason for this are price reductions in relation to our 

customers in the original equipment area, increasing materials prices and salary-related per-

sonnel cost increases, which have partly been compensated through optimisation of the new 

companies among other factors.

The positive outlook of the world economy and the consistent pursuit of our growth strategy 

create the general conditions for us to successfully continue running our company with a history 

spanning almost 75 years. 

Ludwigsburg, 19 March 2015 

MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GmbH

The Board of Management
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Balance sheet (short version)
as at 31 December 2014

Notes 31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Intangible assets (1) 102,050 96,009

Tangible assets (2) 638,303 549,573

Financial assets (4) 308,566 190,388

1,048,919 835,970

Current assets

Inventories (5) 324,827 311,460

Receivables and other assets (6) 517,456 447,583

Other securities 0 30,000

Cash on hand and in bank accounts 326,646 219,280

1,168,929 1,008,323

Prepaid expenses 8,599 5,120

Deferred tax assets (7) 6,710 999

Excess of covering assets over pension and similar obligations (8) 1,336 1,463

2,234,493 1,851,875

LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Subscribed capital 92,700 92,700

Revenue reserves and retained earnings 721,664 654,976

Difference in equity due to currency translation − 19,384 − 53,635

Minority interest 17,450 14,408

812,430 708,449

Debt

Provisions (9) 553,516 532,261

Bonds (10) 100,813 0

Bank debts (10) 378,881 264,348

Liabilities (10) 388,031 345,695

Deferred income 822 1,122

2,234,493 1,851,875
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Profit and loss statement
for the fiscal year 2014

Notes 2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

Sales (12) 2,795,170 2,675,306

Changes in inventories and own work capitalised − 13,583 20,716

Total operating performance 2,781,587 2,696,022

Other operating income (13) 38,765 62,609

Material costs (14) − 1,574,666 − 1,526,565

Personnel costs (15) − 680,257 − 668,000

Depreciation on intangible and tangible assets (16) − 100,737 − 95,093

Other operating costs (17) − 324,966 − 318,056

Earnings before financial result and income taxes 139,726 150,917

Net interest − 39,458 − 30,274

Net income from associated companies and other shareholdings 1,698 576

Income from other securities and long-term loans 6,614 4,568

Depreciation on financial investments and short-term securities − 6,077 − 4,110

Financial result (18) − 37,223 − 29,240

Result from ordinary activities 102,503 121,677

Income taxes (19) − 28,262 − 19,529

Net income 74,241 102,148
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Group cash flow statement
for the fiscal year 2014

2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

1. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Earnings for the period (including minority’s share of result) 74,241 102,148

Paid / refunded taxes on income 45,986 42,916

Interest received / interest paid 4,300 7,073

Earnings before interest and taxes 124,527 152,137

Depreciation and appreciation of fixed assets 100,737 95,093

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in long-term provisions 14,292 6,096

Other expenditure (+)/income (–) not affecting payments 638 22,645

Gross cash flow 240,194 275,971

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in short-term provisions 1,155 16,101

Profit (−)/loss (+) from disposal of assets 615 − 2,195

Paid / refunded taxes on income − 45,986 − 42,916

Interest received / interest paid − 4,300 − 7,073

Increase (−)/reduction (+) in inventories, trade debtors and other assets − 29,123 − 57,085

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in trade creditors and other liabilities 20,624 14,199

Changes in funds from operating activities − 57,015 − 78,969

Cash flow from operating activities 183,179 197,002

2. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES 

Receipts (+) from disposal of tangible fixed assets 7,704 6,022

Payments (–) for investment in tangible fixed assets − 139,449 − 122,402

Receipts (+) from disposal of intangible assets 36 214

Payments (–) for investment in intangible assets − 2,943 − 2,173

Receipts (+) from disposal of financial assets 3,008 6,483

Payments (–) for investment in (non-monetary) financial assets − 29,971 − 28,070

Payments (−) for foundation and acquisition of consolidated companies and other business units 0 − 51,389

Cash flow from investment activities − 161,615 − 191,315

Free cash flow 21,564 5,687
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2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

3. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES

Payments (–) to company shareholders − 6,074 − 5,700

Payments (–) to minority shareholders 0 − 136

Receipts (+) from acceptance of (financial) credits and sale of monetary financial assets 317,111 148,717

Repayment (–) of (financial) credits and payments to acquire monetary financial assets − 233,649 − 78,048

Cash flow from financial activities 77,388 64,833

4. CASH FUNDS AT END OF PERIOD

Payment-effective change to cash funds (sub-total 1– 3) 98,952 70,520

Changes in cash funds from exchange rate movements, valuation differences and changes in Group structure 8,414 − 5,761

Cash funds at the beginning of period 219,280 154,521

Cash funds at end of period 326,646 219,280

5. COMPOSITION OF CASH FUNDS

Cash 326,646 219,280

Cash funds at end of period 326,646 219,280
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Fixed assets movement schedule
as at 31 December 2014

Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Book value

As of 

1.1.2014

Currency 

differences

Changes to 

cons. 

Group

Additions Transfers Disposals As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

1.1.2014

Currency 

differences

Changes to 

cons. 

Group

Additions Transfers Appre-

ciation

Disposals As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased concessions, industrial property 
rights, trademarks and similar values,  
including licences to such rights and values

 
 

115,587

 
 

8,287

 
 

13,300

 
 

2,943

 
 

993

 
 

1,526

 
 

139,584

 
 

61,829

 
 

1,224

 
 

14

 
 

7,894

 
 

0

 
 

0

 
 

1,490

 
 

69,471

 
 

70,113

 
 

53,758

Goodwill 118,256 2,209 64 0 0 64 120,465 76,005 1,004 0 11,519 0 0 0 88,528 31,937 42,251

233,843 10,496 13,364 2,943 993 1,590 260,049 137,834 2,228 14 19,413 0 0 1,490 157,999 102,050 96,009

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Land, land rights and buildings,  
including buildings on third party land

 
356,800

 
13,131

 
12,355

 
16,811

 
13,694

 
11,781

 
401,010

 
150,774

 
2,671

 
1,215

 
10,986

 
− 6

 
0

 
7,308

 
158,332

 
242,678

 
206,026

Plant and machinery 849,980 25,582 3,838 47,358 54,910 20,407 961,261 633,967 13,892 1,350 54,806 34 0 17,433 686,616 274,645 216,013

Other fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 151,448 2,179 410 13,021 6,828 14,146 159,740 110,307 1,445 226 15,532 − 28 0 13,661 113,821 45,919 41,141

Prepayments and assets under construction 86,393 2,511 323 63,823 − 76,425 1,564 75,061 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,061 86,393

1,444,621 43,403 16,926 141,013 − 993 47,898 1,597,072 895,048 18,008 2,791 81,324 0 0 38,402 958,769 638,303 549,573

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated companies 27,061 1,078 209 29,961 0 28,113 30,196 67 0 0 0 0 0 0 67 30,129 26,994

Shareholdings in associated companies 7,635 70 0 458 0 4,468 3,695 1,856 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,856 1,839 5,779

Other shareholdings 751 0 0 10 0 0 761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 761 751

Long-term securities 157,002 0 0 200,549 0 81,714 275,837 138 0 0 0 0 0 138 0 275,837 156,864

192,449 1,148 209 230,978 0 114,295 310,489 2,061 0 0 0 0 0 138 1,923 308,566 190,388

1,870,913 55,047 30,499 374,934 0 163,783 2,167,610 1,034,943 20,236 2,805 100,737 0 0 40,030 1,118,691 1,048,919 835,970

66 MANN+HUMMEL ANNUAL REPORT 2014   Consolidated financial statements  



Acquisition and production cost Depreciation and amortisation Book value

As of 

1.1.2014

Currency 

differences

Changes to 

cons. 

Group

Additions Transfers Disposals As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

1.1.2014

Currency 

differences

Changes to 

cons. 

Group

Additions Transfers Appre-

ciation

Disposals As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

31.12.2014

As of 

31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Purchased concessions, industrial property 
rights, trademarks and similar values,  
including licences to such rights and values

 
 

115,587

 
 

8,287

 
 

13,300

 
 

2,943

 
 

993

 
 

1,526

 
 

139,584

 
 

61,829

 
 

1,224

 
 

14

 
 

7,894

 
 
0

 
 
0

 
 

1,490

 
 

69,471

 
 

70,113

 
 

53,758

Goodwill 118,256 2,209 64 0 0 64 120,465 76,005 1,004 0 11,519 0 0 0 88,528 31,937 42,251

233,843 10,496 13,364 2,943 993 1,590 260,049 137,834 2,228 14 19,413 0 0 1,490 157,999 102,050 96,009

TANGIBLE ASSETS

Land, land rights and buildings,  
including buildings on third party land

 
356,800

 
13,131

 
12,355

 
16,811

 
13,694

 
11,781

 
401,010

 
150,774

 
2,671

 
1,215

 
10,986

 
− 6

 
0

 
7,308

 
158,332

 
242,678

 
206,026

Plant and machinery 849,980 25,582 3,838 47,358 54,910 20,407 961,261 633,967 13,892 1,350 54,806 34 0 17,433 686,616 274,645 216,013

Other fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 151,448 2,179 410 13,021 6,828 14,146 159,740 110,307 1,445 226 15,532 − 28 0 13,661 113,821 45,919 41,141

Prepayments and assets under construction 86,393 2,511 323 63,823 − 76,425 1,564 75,061 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,061 86,393

1,444,621 43,403 16,926 141,013 − 993 47,898 1,597,072 895,048 18,008 2,791 81,324 0 0 38,402 958,769 638,303 549,573

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Shares in affiliated companies 27,061 1,078 209 29,961 0 28,113 30,196 67 0 0 0 0 0 0 67 30,129 26,994

Shareholdings in associated companies 7,635 70 0 458 0 4,468 3,695 1,856 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,856 1,839 5,779

Other shareholdings 751 0 0 10 0 0 761 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 761 751

Long-term securities 157,002 0 0 200,549 0 81,714 275,837 138 0 0 0 0 0 138 0 275,837 156,864

192,449 1,148 209 230,978 0 114,295 310,489 2,061 0 0 0 0 0 138 1,923 308,566 190,388

1,870,913 55,047 30,499 374,934 0 163,783 2,167,610 1,034,943 20,236 2,805 100,737 0 0 40,030 1,118,691 1,048,919 835,970
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Movement schedule of consolidated shareholders' equity
as at 31 December 2014

Parent company Minority interest Total Group 

equity

Subscribed 

capital

Equity 
earned by 
the Group

Accumu- 
lated other 

consoli- 
dated 

result – 
translation 
exchange 

differences

Share- 
holders’ 

equity

Minority 
interest in 

capital

Accumu- 
lated other 

consoli- 
dated 

result – 
translation 
exchange 

differences

Share- 
holders’ 

equity

kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR

31.12.2012 92,700 556,400 − 26,136 622,964 11,949 1,483 13,432 636,396

Payments to company 
shareholders 0 − 5,700 0 − 5,700 − 136 0 − 136 − 5,836

Changes in Group 
structure 0 11,918 0 11,918 0 0 0 11,918

Other changes 0 − 8,532 − 27,499 − 36,031 242 − 388 − 146 − 36,177

0 − 2,314 − 27,499 − 29,813 106 − 388 − 282 − 30,095

Group annual result 0 100,890 0 100,890 1,258 0 1,258 102,148

Total recognised results 
for the Group

 
0

 
100,890

 
0

 
100,890

 
1,258

 
0

 
1,258

 
102,148

31.12.2013 92,700 654,976 − 53,635 694,041 13,313 1,095 14,408 708,449

Payments to company 
shareholders 0 − 6,000 0 − 6,000 − 74 0 − 74 − 6,074

Changes in Group 
structure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 34,251 34,251 0 1,563 1,563 35,814

0 − 6,000 34,251 28,251 − 74 1,563 1,489 29,740

Group annual result 0 72,688 0 72,688 1,553 0 1,553 74,241

Total recognised results 
for the Group

 
0

 
72,688

 
0

 
72,688

 
1,553

 
0

 
1,553

 
74,241

31.12.2014 92,700 721,664 − 19,384 794,980 14,792 2,658 17,450 812,430
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the fiscal year 2014

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of the MANN+HUMMEL Group have been prepared  

in accordance with Sections 290 et seq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and are listed 

in kEUR.

Additional information required for individual items is included in the Notes. The Group profit 

and loss statement has been drawn up according to the nature of expense method. 

The subsidiary companies MANN+HUMMEL Auslandsbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH,  

Ludwigsburg / Germany, MANN+HUMMEL Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, 

Ludwigsburg / Germany, MANN+HUMMEL GmbH, Ludwigsburg / Germany, MANN+HUMMEL 

Inlandsbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg / Germany and MANN+HUMMEL  

AUTOMOTIVE GmbH, Bad Harzburg / Germany have taken advantage of the disclosure 

exemption option pursuant to Section 264 (3) HGB.

MANN+HUMMEL Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG, Wülperode / Germany and 

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter GmbH & Co. KG, Himmelkron / Germany are also exempt 

from disclosure pursuant to Section 264b (3) HGB.

B. CONSOLIDATED GROUP

The consolidated Group thus consists of 11 German and 37 foreign Group companies, includ-

ing the parent company. The list of shareholdings is presented from page 76 onwards.

A first-time consolidation as of 1 January 2014 was carried out for the companies 

MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu / China and MANN+HUMMEL 

Togliatti OOO, Togliatti / Russian Federation. 

Swedish corporate group VOKES AIR and MICRODYN-NADIR Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH, Wiesbaden were acquired during the year under review. The company MANN+HUMMEL 

Canada Inc., Montreal / Canada, was newly founded. These companies were not consolidated 

due to their minor importance under Section 296 (2) HGB.

The joint venture of MANN+HUMMEL Bosch India Ltd. was dissolved. The remaining 50 per 

cent was taken over by Robert Bosch GmbH.
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The changes to the consolidated Group meant that sales increased by EUR 10.7 million,  

material costs by EUR 9.9 million and personnel costs by EUR 3.6 million. Total assets in- 

creased by EUR 39.7 million. 

With the exception of MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter s.r.o., Uherský Brod / Czech Republic, 

MANN+HUMMEL HYDROMATION N.V., Hasselt / Belgium, MANN VE HUMMEL FÍLTRE 

SANAYÍ VE TÍCARET LÍMÍTED  ˛SÍRKETÍ, Istanbul / Turkey, MANN+HUMMEL Middle East 

FZE, Dubai / United Arab Emirates, MANN+HUMMEL MEXICO SERVICIOS S.A. d. C.V., 

Santiago de Querétaro / Mexico, MANN+HUMMEL BRASIL TECNOLOGIA EM AGUA  

PARTICIPACOES LTDA., Jundiai / Brazil, MANN+HUMMEL WATER SOLUTIONS HOLDING 

PTE. LTD., Singapore / Singapore, MANN+HUMMEL FILTER TRADING (SHANGHAI) CO. 

LTD., Shanghai / P.R. China as well as MANN and HUMMEL Thailand Ltd., Bangkok / Thailand, 

the consolidated financial statements are based in all cases on audited financial statements or 

second level balance sheets II in accordance with local legislation and pursuant to 

MANN+HUMMEL valuation standards.

C. PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

Until 2001, the capital consolidation was effected with one exception according to the purchase 

method in the form of the book value method. From 2002 onwards, the acquired companies 

were recorded in the balance sheet according to the purchase method in the form of the  

revaluation method at the time of the acquisition.

Up until 31 December 1998, first-time consolidation was undertaken as from the date when a 

company is founded or when the stock is acquired. From that date, first-time consolidation has 

occurred on the next following balance sheet date. 

Since 2002, the revaluation method has been used. This involves offsetting the valuation of the 

shares belonging to the parent company against the amount of shareholders' equity of the 

subsidiary pertaining to these shares. The shareholders' equity is applied at the amount which 

corresponds to the present value of the assets and debts to be used in the consolidated finan-

cial statements.

First-time consolidations of acquired and newly established companies are undertaken at the 

time the company became a subsidiary. 

Receivables and liabilities, turnover and income and expenses within the consolidated Group 

have been eliminated. However, if inter-company sales of tangible assets result in book profits 

or book losses, these have not been eliminated due to their insignificant effect on the net worth, 

financial and profit situation of the Group, in accordance with Section  304 (2) HGB. 
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D. CURRENCY CONVERSION

In the individual financial statements, receivables and liabilities in foreign currency have been 

valued at the mean spot rate of exchange prevailing on the date when they originated. For 

maturities with a residual term of more than one year, the principle of realisation (Section 298 (1) 

in conjunction with Section 252 (1) No. 4 half-sentence 2 HGB) and the principle of acquisition 

costs (Section 298 (1) in connection with 253 (1) sentence 1 HGB) were applied.

The functional currency of MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GmbH, Ludwigsburg / Germany and 

of the consolidated financial statements is the Euro. The individual financial statements of for-

eign Group companies are generally converted using the current rate method. Local currency 

balance sheet amounts are converted into euros at the mean spot rate of exchange on the 

closing date. Profit and loss statements of foreign companies have normally been converted 

using the annual average rates of exchange. Differences resulting from exchange rate fluctua-

tions were recognised without effect on profit and loss.

The consolidation calculation is based on the following key exchange rates for currencies  

outside the Eurozone:

ISO code Annual average 
rates of exchange  

1 EUR

Spot rates on 
reporting date  

1 EUR 

2014 2013 2014 2013

ARS 10.8686 7.3902 10.4074 8.9511

BRL 3.1106 2.8937 3.2264 3.2259

CNY 8.1356 8.2182 7.4556 8.4189

CZK 27.5500 26.0308 27.7250 27.4250

INR 80.7156 78.3492 76.6150 85.1490

JPY 140.5262 130.1450 145.1005 144.6425

RUB 51.6637 42.5509 68.3427 44.9699

USD 1.3218 1.3304 1.2154 1.3780
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E. ACCOUNTING AND VALUATION PRINCIPLES 

The annual financial statements of the parent company and the domestic and foreign sub-

sidiaries have been drawn up according to uniform accounting and valuation principles, unless 

allowance had to be made for exceptions relating to the country concerned. These exceptions 

were eliminated in the preparation of the second-level financial statements.

Acquired intangible assets were capitalised at acquisition costs under consideration of the 

incidental costs and amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life.

Tangible assets were capitalised at acquisition or Group production costs. Depreciable fixed 

assets were amortised on the basis of the straight line or declining balance method according 

to schedule in line with their ordinary useful life. For all MANN+HUMMEL companies, tools with 

acquisition and production costs above 25 k EUR (until 2005: 50 k EUR) are capitalised 

individually in the fixed assets under “Plant and machinery” and depreciated over their expected 

useful lives. Tooling cost contributions received are accrued and reversed over their expected 

useful life. 

Financial assets are recognised at acquisition costs or at nominal value or at the lower fair value 

on the balance sheet date.

Raw materials and supplies and trading goods are valued at the average acquisition costs or 

the lower market value on the balance sheet date. The work in process and finished goods are 

valued at production costs on the basis of direct material and manufacturing costs, material and 

manufacturing overheads as well as depreciation of fixed assets and production-related  

administrative overheads. 

Development work for which the customer has contractually agreed to assume costs is carried 

as work in process. 

Due consideration has been given to the principle of net realisable value. Sufficient provision 

has been made for inventory risks.

Receivables and other assets are valued at their nominal value and foreign currency items with 

a residual term of less than one year at the mean spot rate of exchange. For maturities with a 

residual term of more than one year, the principles of realisation and acquisition costs were 

applied. 

Non-interest bearing receivables due in more than one year were discounted. In the case of 

identifiable individual risks, receivables have been written down to the lower fair value on the 

balance sheet date. 

72 MANN+HUMMEL ANNUAL REPORT 2014   Consolidated financial statements  



Plan assets, which serve solely to meet pension and partial early retirement obligations and are 

not accessible to other creditors, are measured at fair value. The plan assets are then offset 

against pension and phased partial retirement obligations and the difference is recognised as 

excess of covering assets over pension and similar obligations.

Where provisions for direct pension obligations had to be made in the individual financial state-

ments, they were calculated according to the projected unit credit method using the settlement 

amount. In the year under review, pension provisions were mainly recognised for domestic 

companies, for which a discount interest rate of 4.55 per cent (previous year: 4.9 per cent) was 

applied. The change in the discount interest rate produced an increase in the provisions of  

EUR 11.7 million. Salary and pension increases, as well as fluctuation, are taken into account 

according to the specific countries. Wage and salary increases were calculated unchanged 

among the German companies at 3.0 per cent. Calculations were based on mortality tables 

acknowledged in each country. In Germany, the modified Heubeck reference tables 2005G 

(TW) were used.

Other provisions were recognised for the amount necessary to settle the obligation using  

reasonable business judgement. They include all contingent liabilities and potential losses from 

onerous contracts. Provisions with due dates of more than one year were discounted. The 

applied discount rate was the average market rate for the last seven fiscal years which is  

according to the remaining period.

Liabilities were recognised at the amount needed to settle them. Foreign currency items with a 

maturity of less than one year were converted at the mean spot exchange rate. The realisation 

principle was applied for maturities of more than one year.

To calculate deferred taxes from temporary or quasi-permanent differences between the carry-

ing amounts of assets, liabilities and prepaid expenses / deferred income and those for tax 

pur poses, or on tax-loss carryforwards, the amounts of tax assets and tax liabilities were 

measured using the individual tax rates for the company at the time the difference is reversed, 

and not discounted. Deferred taxes on tax-loss carryforwards are recognised to the extent that 

the losses are expected to be offset in the next five years. 

No use was made of the option on the recognition of deferred tax assets in Section  274 (1) 

HGB. Differences based on consolidation procedures pursuant to Sections  300-307 HGB are 

recognised, but not differences from the first-time recognition of goodwill or a negative  

difference from capital consolidation. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted out.
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F. NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the balance sheet

Assets

1. Intangible assets

Intangible assets include purchased patents and computer software and licences to similar 

rights and values, which are mainly amortised on a straight-line basis over a useful life of three 

to five years. The additions are primarily the result of the first-time consolidation of 

MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu / China.

Valuation principles

Purchased intangible assets were capitalised at acquisition costs including incidental costs and 

amortised pro rata temporis.

Recognised goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over a useful life of eight years. The 

useful lives of components of goodwill such as trademarks, customer relations etc. which are 

not capitalised are much longer than those defined by law. This also corresponds to the  

standards common in automotive series production. Together with the companies, we normally 

also acquire series production orders that are in development and only materialise after eight 

years.

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Purchased concessions, industrial and intellectual property rights  
and similar values, including licences to such rights and values

 
70,113

 
53,758

Goodwill 31,937 42,251

102,050 96,009

74 MANN+HUMMEL ANNUAL REPORT 2014   Consolidated financial statements  



2. Tangible assets

Valuation principles

Tangible assets were valued at acquisition or Group production costs, reduced by depreciation 

and amortisation. Acquisition costs include the purchase price, incidental acquisition costs and 

subsequent acquisition costs. Production costs include direct material and manufacturing 

costs, special material and manufacturing overheads, depreciation of fixed assets as well as 

production-related administrative overheads.

The composition of and changes in fixed assets are shown after the balance sheet. Currency 

differences are shown in a separate column under acquisition or production costs and under 

depreciation and amortisation. 

The following time periods were applied as a basis for the useful life of significant assets:

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Land, land rights and buildings, including buildings on third-party land 242,678 206,026

Plant and machinery 274,645 216,013

Other fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment 45,919 41,141

Prepayments and assets under construction 75,061 86,393

638,303 549,573

Years

Buildings 10 – 50

Plant and machinery  8 – 25

Tools and equipment   3 – 8
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3. Information on shareholdings

Company name and domicile Consoli-
dation

status1)

Equity
interest

 %

1. Subsidiaries

Germany

MANN+HUMMEL Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Auslandsbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Inlandsbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL GmbH, Ludwigsburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL AUTOMOTIVE GmbH, Bad Harzburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter GmbH & Co. KG, Himmelkron V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter Verwaltungs GmbH, Himmelkron V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vermögensverwaltungs GmbH & Co. KG, Wülperode V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Komplementär GmbH, Wülperode V 100

MANN+HUMMEL WATER SOLUTIONS GMBH, Ludwigsburg V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air GmbH & Co. OHG, Sprockhövel2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL MRH Filter Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Sprockhövel2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Atex Filter Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Sprockhövel2) N 100

MICRODYN-NADIR Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Wiesbaden N 100

MICRODYN-NADIR GmbH, Wiesbaden N 50

Europe

MANN+HUMMEL (UK) LTD., Wolverhampton / UK V 100

MANN+HUMMEL FINANCE UK LTD., Wolverhampton / UK V 100

INDUSTRIAL FILTERS LTD., Wolverhampton / UK V 100

MANN+HUMMEL HYDROMATION N.V., Hasselt / Belgium V 100

MANN+HUMMEL (CZ) s.r.o., Nová Ves / Czech Republic V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Service s.r.o., Nová Ves / Czech Republic V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter s.r.o., Uherský Brod / Czech Republic V 100

MANN+HUMMEL IBERICA S.A.U., Saragossa / Spain V 100

MANN+HUMMEL FRANCE SAS, Laval / France V 100

MANN+HUMMEL ITALIA S.r.l., Turin / Italy V 100

MANN+HUMMEL OOO, Moscow / Russian Federation V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Togliatti OOO, Togliatti / Russian Federation V 100

MANN+HUMMEL BA J.S.C., Tesanj / Bosnia and Herzegovina V 80,7

MANN VE HUMMEL FÍLTRE SANAYÍ VE TÍCARET LÍMÍTED S̨ÍRKETÍ, Istanbul / Turkey V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air SAS, Ozouer Le Voulgis / France2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Treatment Holdings Ltd., Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes-Air Limited, Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Filtration Ltd., Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Wheway Plc, Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air (UK) Limited, Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL McLeod Russel Investment Plc, Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL McLeod Russel Clean Air Ltd., Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL W.T.H Investments Ltd., Burnley / UK2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air SrL, Pioltello / Italy2) N 100
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Company name and domicile Consoli-
dation

status1)

Equity
interest

 %

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air SL, Premià de Dalt Barcelona / Spain2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air BV, Ijsselstein / Netherlands2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AS, Hvidovre / Denmark2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AG, Uster / Switzerland2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air GmbH, Vösendorf / Austria2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes-Air Holding AB, Svenljunga / Sweden2) N 100

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AB, Svenljunga / Sweden2) N 100

America

MANN+HUMMEL INC., Wilmington, DE / USA V 100

MANN+HUMMEL USA, INC., Portage, MI / USA V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Purolator Filters LLC, Fayetteville / USA V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Canada Inc., Montreal / Canada N 100

MANN+HUMMEL MEXICO S.A. d. C. V., Santiago de Querétaro / Mexico V 100

MANN+HUMMEL MEXICO SERVICIOS S.A. d. C.V., Santiago de Querétaro / Mexico V 100

MANN+HUMMEL BRASIL LTDA., Indaiatuba / Brazil V 100

MANN+HUMMEL BRASIL TECNOLOGIA EM AGUA PARTICIPACOES LTDA., Jundiai / Brazil V 100

Fluid Brasil Sistemas e Tecnologia Ltda., Jundiai / Brazil V 100

MANN+HUMMEL ARGENTINA S.A., Buenos Aires / Argentina V 100

Asia

MANN+HUMMEL WATER SOLUTIONS HOLDING PTE. LTD., Singapore / Singapore V 100

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER TECHNOLOGY (S.E.A.) PTE. LTD., Singapore / Singapore V 100

MANN+HUMMEL ULTRA-FLO PTE. LTD., Singapore / Singapore V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Middle East FZE, Dubai / United Arab Emirates V 100

MANN and HUMMEL Thailand Ltd., Bangkok / Thailand V 100

MANN+HUMMEL KOREA CO. LTD., Wonju / South Korea V 100

MANN+HUMMEL JAPAN LTD., Shin-Yokohama / Japan V 100

MANN AND HUMMEL FILTER PRIVATE LTD., Bangalore / India V 100

CHANGCHUN MANN+HUMMEL FAWER FILTER CO. LTD., Changchun / P.R. China V 60

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER (SHANGHAI) CO. LTD., Shanghai / P.R. China V 100

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER TRADING (SHANGHAI) CO. LTD., Shanghai / P.R. China V 100

MANN+HUMMEL (CHINA) CO. LTD., Shanghai / P.R. China V 100

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER (JINAN) CO. LTD., Jinan / P.R. China V 100

MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu / P.R. China V 100

Australia

MANN AND HUMMEL AUSTRALIA (PTY) LTD., Arndell Park NSW / Australia N 100

2. Associated companies

ABC S.A., Cordoba / Argentina E 30

G.U.D. MANN+HUMMEL FILTER SYSTEMS (PTY) LTD., Atlantis / South Africa N 50

1  V: full consolidation; E: equity method; N: not consolidated due to minor importance pursuant to Section  296 (2) HGB and Section  311 (2) HGB.

2  Vokes Air Group 
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4. Financial assets

The "Shares in affiliated companies" item shows the investment book value of the non- 

consolidated companies MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Holding AB, Svenljunga / Sweden,  

MICRODYN-NADIR Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Wiesbaden / Germany, MANN+HUMMEL 

Canada Inc., Montreal / Canada, and MANN AND HUMMEL AUSTRALIA (PTY) LTD., Arndell 

Park NSW / Australia.

ABC S.A., Cordoba / Argentina, MHB FILTER INDIA PRIVATE LTD., Tumkur / India and G.U.D. 

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER SYSTEMS (PTY) LTD., Atlantis / South Africa are recorded as 

"Shareholdings in associated companies".

Long-term securities rose by 118,973 kEUR. The funds required for this purpose originated 

primarily from issuance of a registered bond with a nominal value of 100,000 kEUR as well as 

the investment of liquid assets.

Valuation principles

Securities are held at acquisition costs and shareholdings at acquisition costs or amortised 

acquisition costs, each including incidental acquisition costs. Investments are written down to 

the lower fair value if impairment is likely to be permanent.

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Shares in affiliated companies 30,129 26,994

Shareholdings in associated companies 1,839 5,779

Other shareholdings 761 751

Long-term securities 275,837 156,864

308,566 190,388
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5. Inventories

Valuation principles

Raw materials and supplies and trading goods are valued at the average acquisition costs or 

the lower market value on the balance sheet date. The work in process and finished goods are 

valued at production costs on the basis of direct material and manufacturing costs, material and 

manufacturing overheads as well as depreciation of fixed assets and production-related  

administrative overheads.

6. Receivables and other assets

The residual term of trade receivables is less than one year. Of the other assets, 12,024 kEUR 

(previous year: 13,784 kEUR) have a residual term of more than one year.

Valuation principles

Receivables and other assets are held at their nominal value. Identifiable individual risks  

and general provision for bad debts have been taken into account by means of adequate  

write-downs.

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Raw materials and supplies 108,638 99,831

Work in process 61,806 69,680

Finished products and goods 146,335 136,293

Prepayments 8,048 5,747

324,827 311,551

./. less payments received 0 – 91

324,827 311,460

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Trade receivables 404,507 377,500

Receivables from  
affiliated companies

 
10,097

 
101

Other assets 102,852 69,982

517,456 447,583
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7. Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets of 6,710 kEUR were recognised on the basis of consolidation procedures. 

Tax rates of between 10.0 per cent and 39.5 per cent were used for the calculation.

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets 6,007 0

Other financial investments 0 2,181

Inventories 4,559 4,840

Receivables and other assets 2,846 3,347

Prepaid expenses 1,157 0

Pensions 17,032 13,480

Other provisions 26,632 25,155

Liabilities 0 1,580

Deferred income 0 292

Tax credits 348 195

Tax-loss carryforwards 1,287 1,557

Total deferred tax assets 59,868 52,627

Deferred tax liabilities

Intangible assets 0 5,733

Tangible assets 13,014 6,792

Other financial investments 952 0

Liabilities 1,226 0

Deferred income 87 0

Total deferred tax liabilities 15,279 12,525

Net total deferred taxes 44,589 40,102

Non-recognised deferred taxes – 37,879 – 39,103

Recognised in the balance sheet 6,710 999
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8. Excess of covering assets over pension and similar obligations

Plan assets are essentially held in the form of securities. Fair value is equivalent to the listed 

stock market price on the closing date. This results in an excess of covering assets over pension 

and similar obligations of 1,336 kEUR.

Valuation principles

Plan assets that serve solely to meet pension and partial early retirement obligations are held at 

fair value. The plan assets are then offset against pension and partial early retirement obligations 

and the difference is recognised as excess of covering assets over pension and similar  

obligations. 

Liabilities

9. Provisions

The pension provisions cover all the pension benefits which the Group has contractually  

undertaken to provide to its employees.

31.12.2014

kEUR

Acquisition costs of plan assets 23,345

Fair value of plan assets 25,045

Settlement amount of corresponding liabilities – 23,709

Offset expenses 187

Offset income 401

31.12.2014 31.12.2013

kEUR kEUR

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 297,227 278,620

Tax provisions 26,038 21,384

Other provisions 230,251 232,257

553,516 532,261
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Tax provisions refer in particular to taxes for the year under review and taxes deferred for the tax 

inspection. Other provisions essentially refer to personnel costs. They also include provisions 

for potential losses on onerous contracts, guarantees and customer rebates.

Valuation principles

Provisions are formed according to sound business judgement. They cover future obligations 

for recognised risks. The domestic pension provisions were recognised for the settlement 

amount as calculated using actuarial principles.

10. Liabilities

Within bank debts, no sums are secured through mortgages or similar rights.

31.12.2014 Due date

up to 1 year 1 to 5 years over 5 years

kEUR kEUR kEUR kEUR

Bonds 100,813 813 0 100,000

Bank debts 378,881 21,855 196,565 160,461

(Previous year) (264,348) (17,342) (117,006) (130,000)

Payments received on account of orders 15,662 15,662 0 0

(Previous year) (18,864) (18,864) (0) (0)

Trade payables 308,604 308,604 0 0

(Previous year) (277,666) (277,666) (0) (0)

Liabilities on bills accepted and drawn 8,085 8,085 0 0

(Previous year) (8,577) (8,577) (0) (0)

Liabilities to affiliated companies 64 64 0 0

(Previous year) (190) (190) (0) (0)

Other liabilities 55,616 51,822 3,791 3

(Previous year) (40,398) (34,917) (5,362) (119)

Of which:

– for taxes 22,502

   (Previous year) (10,577)

– for social security 14,334

   (Previous year) (11,028)

– to shareholders 1,267

   (Previous year) (1,250)
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11. Derivative financial instruments

At the MANN+HUMMEL Group, derivative financial instruments are employed exclusively to 

cover underlying transactions resulting from the operating activity of the Group which entail 

financial risk. 

In the case of the currency-related transactions, the transactions were currency futures in  

USD and CZK against EUR. 

The derivatives were valued partly by banks through which the derivatives were arranged and 

partly by the Treasury Management System within SAP (TR module) based on market data 

from the vwd Vereinigte Wirtschaftsdienste AG information system. The banks and the Treasury 

Management System value the derivatives according to recognised methods and models of 

mathematical finance.

Nominal 
amount

Fair value 

kEUR kEUR

Currency-related transactions 13,109 88
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Notes to the profit and loss statement

12. Sales by geographical markets

The increase in sales came to 119,864 kEUR (adjusted for exchange rate effects to 238,094 kEUR).

Broken down according to Group revenue from areas of operation, 47.1 per cent originates from 

the “Automotive Original Equipment“ Division, 41.4 per cent from the “Automotive Aftermarket“ 

Division and 11.5 per cent from the “Non-Automotive“ Division.

13. Other operating income

Other operating income amounts to 38,765 kEUR (previous year: 62,609 kEUR). This mainly involves 

income from currency conversion in the amount of 11,240 kEUR (previous year: 9,910 kEUR) from 

the release of other provisions in the amount of 7,283 kEUR and from rental income in the amount 

of 1,966 kEUR.

 

2014 share 2013 share

kEUR % kEUR %

Europe 1,500,265  53.7 1,438,976  53.8 

America  696,743  24.9  696,013  26.0 

Asia  579,028   20.7  523,706   19.6 

Rest of the world  19,134   0.7  16,611   0.6 

2,795,170 100.0 2,675,306 100.0 
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14. Material costs

15. Personnel costs

2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

Expenditure on raw materials and supplies  
and trading goods

 
1,501,370

 
1,468,872

Expenditure on purchased services 73,296 57,693

1,574,666 1,526,565

2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

Wages and salaries 559,584 552,758

Social security and pension expenses 120,673 115,242

   Of which retirement benefits: 15,546 kEUR (previous year: 14,375 kEUR)

680,257 668,000
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16. Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation and amortisation charges come to 100,737 kEUR (previous year: 95,093 kEUR) in 

the reporting period. This amount does not include any unscheduled depreciation or amortisation.

17. Other operating costs

Other operating costs amounting to 324,966 kEUR (previous year: 318,056 kEUR) are essentially 

made up of rental and leasing costs and maintenance charges as well as legal, consultancy, 

training and education, and travel costs, and for outgoing freight. Expenditure on currency con-

versation totals 9,986 kEUR (previous year: 11,217 kEUR) and other taxes amount to 8,113 kEUR 

(previous year: 8,275 kEUR).

18. Financial result

2014 2013

kEUR kEUR

Net income from associated companies and other shareholdings 1,698 576

Income from other securities and long-term loans 3,710 1,342

Other interest and similar income 5,642 2,721

Financial income 9,352 4,063

Expenses from accrued interest expenses for provisions – 15,034 – 15,306

Cost of the change in the discount interest rate of the pension provisions – 11,678 – 5,086

Other interest – 18,388 – 12,603

Interest and similar expenses – 45,100 – 32,995

Net total financial income / expenses adjusted for interest effects on provisions (– 9,036) (– 8,540)

Depreciation on financial investments and short-term securities 0 – 1,182

Exchange gains on loans 2,904   3,226    

Exchange losses on loans – 6,077 – 2,928

Financial result – 37,223 – 29,240
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In 2014, income from securities and loans amounted to 3,710 kEUR (previous year: 1,342 kEUR). 

Other interest and similar income from investments also rose in comparison with 2013 due to 

expansion of the investment volume by 2,921 kEUR to 5,642  kEUR. Total financial income 

(without exchange gains on loans) thus come to 9,352 kEUR (previous year: 4,063 kEUR).

Financial expenses came to a total of 45,100 kEUR. Adjusted for the interest effects of accrued 

interest for provisions (15,034 kEUR) and the change in the discount interest rate for the pension 

provision (11,678 kEUR), the net total of financial income and expenses was thus reduced by 

– 496 kEUR to – 9,036 kEUR. The increased other interest expenses were due to the assump-

tion of new loans and the issue of a registered bond.

Foreign currency loans in the group were valued on the balance sheet date. This resulted in 

exchange gains of 2,904 kEUR (previous year: 3,226 kEUR). The devaluation of the EUR – in 

particular against the USD – led to valuation losses in the amount of 6,077 kEUR (previous year:  

2,928 kEUR). This item also includes the valuation of derivatives in the group.

19. Income taxes

The income tax item of 28,262 kEUR (previous year: 19,529 kEUR) includes German income 

taxes, comparable foreign income taxes and deferred taxes of – 9,953 kEUR (previous year: 

– 11,130 kEUR). 
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OTHER ITEMS

20. Contingent liabilities

At the balance sheet date, there were liabilities from warranty contracts and guarantees in the 

amount of 201 kEUR (previous year: 0 kEUR). 

21. Other financial obligations

At the balance sheet date, the Group had financial commitments of 37,615 kEUR. These relate 

to investment commitments and obligations from service, rental and lease agreements.

22. Off-balance sheet transactions

Different companies of the Group have building leasing agreements and leasing agreements for 

tools and equipment and IT equipment. The financial commitments arising from such leasing 

agreements are included in the "Other financial obligations" item.

 

23. Staff levels

The average number of employees in the Group, excluding apprentices, is broken down as 

follows:

2014 2013

Salaried employees 6,721 6,190

Blue-collar employees 9,147 9,048

15,868 15,238
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24. Remuneration for members of the Board of Management and 

      the Supervisory Board, advances and loans

For the performance of the business management duties at the parent company and the sub-

sidiaries, the Board of Management of the parent company received remuneration of 3,824 kEUR 

(previous year: 4,092 kEUR). The total remuneration of the Supervisory board comprised 128 kEUR 

(previous year: 131 kEUR). The remuneration for former directors or their surviving dependents 

amounted to 686 kEUR (previous year: 699 kEUR). At the balance sheet date, the pension  

provisions for former members of the Board of Management or their surviving dependents  

amounted to 8,637 kEUR (previous year: 8,542 kEUR).

At the balance sheet date, no loans or advances had been extended to any members of this 

Board of Management. 

There were no contingent liabilities for the benefit of officers of the parent company or those of 

direct Group companies.

25. Auditors' fees

Auditors' fees for the fiscal year amounted to 246 kEUR, this total comprising auditing services 

(81 kEUR), other validation services (42 kEUR), tax consultancy services (31 kEUR) and other 

services (92 kEUR).
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Ludwigsburg, 19 March 2015

MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GmbH

Board of Management

Alfred Weber Frank B. Jehle Manfred Wolf

Supervisory Board

Thomas Fischer, Schalksmühle

Chairman 

Christine Wagner, Reisbach

Deputy Chairwoman

Marklkofen Works Council

Prof. Dr-Ing. Michael Bargende, Stuttgart

University Lecturer 

Josef Bechtel, Ludwigsburg

Trade Union Secretary of IG Metall, 

District Management of Baden-Württemberg

Walter Gehl, Frankfurt / Main

Chairman & CEO

LSG Lufthansa Service Holding AG

(from 5 May 2014)

Joachim Grüdl, Bietigheim-Bissingen

Chairman of the Works Council, Ludwigsburg

Dipl.-Kfm. Jens Michael Hummel, Stuttgart

Konrad Ott, Ludwigsburg

1st Representative, IG Metall,

Ludwigsburg

Karl-Heinz Streibich, Frankfurt / Main

CEO Software AG

(until 2 April 2014)

Dr. Gerhard Turner, Pliezhausen

Nico Wetterich, Föritz

Sonneberg Works Council

Bernhard Wimmer, Rimbach

Plant Director of the Marklkofen plant

Johannes Winklhofer, Stockdorf

Managing Partner  

iwis Group

Board of Management

Dipl.-Kfm. Alfred Weber, Stuttgart

President & CEO

Dipl.-Wirtsch.-Inf. (Univ.) Frank B. Jehle, 

Marbach

Deputy CEO & CFO 

Dipl.-Betriebsw. (FH) Manfred Wolf,

Ludwigsburg

26. Members of the Supervisory Board and Board of Management
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Independent auditor’s report
“We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING 

GmbH, Ludwigsburg, comprising the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, 

statement of changes in equity and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, together 

with the Group management report for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2014. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report in 

accordance with German commercial law is the responsibility of the Company’s management. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the 

Group management report based on our audit. We conducted our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with Section 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 

and generally accepted German standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 

the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). These standards require that we plan and perform the 

audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

German principles of proper accounting and in the Group management report are detected 

with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal 

environment of the Group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account 

in the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal 

control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial state-

ments and the Group management report are examined primarily on a test basis within the 

framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those 

entities included in consolidation, the determination of entities to be included in consolidation, 

the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the  

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments and the Group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 

basis for our opinion. Our audit has not led to any reservations. In our opinion, based on the 

findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with the legal requirements 

and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the 

Group in accordance with German principles of proper accounting. The Group management 

report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and, as a whole, provides a  

suitable view of the Group’s position and suitably represents the opportunities and risks of 

future development.”

Stuttgart, 20 March 2015

Ernst & Young GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Strähle Ranger

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
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